
1 
 

 
 

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES 
REGULAR MEETING NOTICE/AGENDA 

 
June 13, 2023, 7:00 pm 

 
RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER, COUNCIL CHAMBERS  

6101 CAPULINA AVENUE, MORTON GROVE, IL 60053  
  
In accordance with the Illinois Open Meetings Act, all Village Board and Commission meetings are open to the 
public. This meeting can be viewed remotely via the live stream link found at: www.mortongroveil.org/stream. (If 
an Executive Session is placed on the agenda, the meeting shall commence at 6:00 pm and the time between 6:00 
pm and 7:00 pm shall be used for the Executive Session per 1-5-7A of the Village of Morton Grove Municipal 
Code. If the Agenda does not include an Executive Session, the meeting will begin at 7:00 pm.)  

 
1. Call to Order 

 
2. Pledge of Allegiance 

 
3. Approval of Minutes – Regular Meeting – May 23, 2023 

 
4. Special Reports - None 

 
5. Public Hearings – None 

 
6. Plan Commission Reports – Presented by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development 

Administrator. 
 

a. PC 23-10: Request for approval of a Test Amendment to Sections 12-4-4, 12-5-5, 
12-7-3, and 12-17-1 of the Morton Grove Unified Development Code (Title 12) to 
define “moving and storage facility”, authorize use in the manufacturing districts, 
and establish use standards and off-street parking requirements. The applicant is 
MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated. 

 
7. Residents’ Comments (agenda items only) 
 
8. President’s Report – Administration, Comprehensive Plan, Council of Mayors, 

Northwest Municipal Conference, Strategic Plan Committee 
 

9. Clerk’s Report – Condominium Association, Strategic Plan Committee 
 

10. Staff Report  
 

a. Village Administration 
 

b. Corporation Counsel 

http://www.mortongroveil.org/stream


 2 

 
12. Reports by Trustees  

a. Trustee Khan – Finance Department, Appearance Commission, Capital Projects, 
French Market, Lehigh/Ferris TIF (Trustee Travis)    

  
b. Trustee Minx – Fire Department, Fire Pension Board, Fire & Police Commission, 

Special Events Commission, RED Center, NIPSTA (Trustee Thill)   
  
c. Trustee Shiba – Building Department, Environment & Natural Resources 

Commission, Legal Department, IT Department (Trustee Witko)  
 

1. Ordinance 23-15 (Introduced June 13, 2023) (Frist Reading): Authorizing 
the Renewal of a Non-exclusive Cable Television Franchise Agreement by 
and Between Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC, and the Village of Morton Grove 

 
d. Trustee Thill – Public Works Department, SWANCC (Solid Waste Agency of 

Northern Cook County), MG-Niles Water Commission, Traffic Safety Commission 
(Trustee Minx)   

 
1. Resolution 23-26: Authorizing the Annual July 4th Parade Closure of 

Dempster Street 
  

e. Trustee Travis – Police Department, Police Pension Board, Fire & Police  
Commission, Community Relations Commission, (Trustee Khan)    

  
f. Trustee Witko – Community & Economic Development Department, Economic  

Development Commission, Plan Commission/ Zoning Board (Trustee Shiba) 
 

1. Ordinance 23-12 (Introduced May 9, 2023.  (Second Reading): Approving 
a Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision and a Planned Unit 
Development Special Use Permit for an Eighty-Nine-Unit Townhome 
Development at 8350 Lehigh Avenue in Morton Grove, Illinois.  
Note: The Applicant has requested this ordinance be tabled to July 
 25, 2023) A motion is needed to table this ordinance.  
 

2. Ordinance 23-14 (Introduced June 13, 2023) (First Reading): Approving 
a Text Amendment to Establish Regulations Relating to Moving and 
Storage Facilities in Morton Grove, Illinois  

 
11. Other Business 

12. Presentation of Warrants - $906,072.81 

13. Residents’ Comments 

14.  Adjournment 



   

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT 
AND THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

RICHARD T. FLICKINGER MUNICIPAL CENTER COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
MAY 23, 2023 

 
 
 

CALL TO ORDER 
  

 I.  
& II. 

Village President Dan DiMaria convened the Regular Meeting of the Village Board at 7:00 p.m.  
in the Council Chambers of Village Hall.   
 
 

III. Village Clerk Eileen Harford called the roll. Present were Trustees Saba Khan, Rita Minx,  
Ashur Shiba, John Thill, Connie Travis, and Janine Witko.  
 
 

IV. 
 
 
 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Trustee Minx moved to approve the Minutes of the May 9, 2023 Village Board Meeting as  
presented. Trustee Khan seconded the motion.  Motion passed unanimously via voice vote.  
 
 

V. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 

c. 
 
 

SPECIAL REPORTS 
 
Outstanding Neighbor Recognition for Bill, James, and Max Gold 

 
Mayor DiMaria introduced Community Relations Commissioner Kristey Chalabi to present this 
award. 
 
Commissioner Chalabi explained the purpose of the Commission is to foster, encourage, and  
stimulate improvement of relations among and between citizens of all races, creeds, national 
origins, and economic and educational models, and to provide all individuals with an equal 
opportunity to grow and participate to the best of their ability in the economic, educational,  
social, and cultural activities available in our community. She said the Commission will also assist 
in the development of public information and related communication programs to enhance the 
quality of life for all village residents. 
 
Commissioner Chalabi said she was proud to represent the Community Relations Commission this 
evening as they recognize another extraordinary neighbor via the Commission’s Outstanding  
Neighbor Recognition Program. This program gives all Morton Grove residents the opportunity to 
acknowledge an outstanding neighbor for doing special things that make their neighborhood a 
better place.  
 
Commissioner Chalabi said tonight some very special neighbors are being recognized: Bill, James, 
and Max Gold. Their nomination comes from their neighbor, David Wolf, who had wonderful 
things to say about them. She then invited the Golds and David to join her at the podium. 



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 2

V. 
 

d. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

e. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

SPECIAL REPORTS (continued) 
 
Commissioner Chalabi read David’s nomination: “Bill and his sons, James and Max, have been very 
helpful to my wife and me ever since I hurt myself in early 2020. My wife and I have difficulties 
with some of the chores, including bring out and returning the garbage cans on pickup day. They 
have shoveled snow when my service wasn’t available. They are available for anything I am limited 
on performing. Jim is one of the most thoughtful neighbors you could ask for. He always asks how 
we are doing and if there’s anything we need. In winter, he helps the whole block with snow re-
moval, no matter how cold it is. This past Fourth of July, he placed a flagpole in his front yard and 
had 
three veterans who live on our block help raise the first flag. He always watches out for our house. 
He is one of a kind and deserves to be recognized. 
 
Commissioner Chalabi then called on Trustee Travis and Mayor DiMaria to come to the podium. 
Mayor DiMaria congratulated the Golds and said he’s know Dave Wolf for a very, very long time,  
so if he’s recommending the Golds for this award, they are top-quality people, because you don’t 
get much better than Dave. The mayor presented them with an Outstanding Neighbor Recognition 
certificate, a gift card, and a pen. Last, but definitely not least, Mayor DiMaria presented them 
with a Village of Morton Grove, and pointed out that these pins are not given to just anybody,  
which makes them special. He encouraged them to wear their pin on the lapel of their jacket 
when they go out, because it can be a great conversation-starter, and if someone asks, “Where’s 
Morton Grove?,” he encouraged them to respond as he always does “Six double-o-5-3, the only  
place to be!” Mayor DiMaria congratulated the Golds once again and told them “You help bring 
our community slogan—Incredibly Close. Amazingly Open.—to life. You prove there is still good 
in the world.” Dave said, “I personally want to thank you for being wonderful neighbors.”  
 
The group gathered for a photo and reclaimed their seats. 
 

 
VI. 

 
 

 

PUBLIC HEARINGS 
 

NONE 
 

VII. 
 

. 
 

PLAN COMMISSION REPORTS 
 

NONE 
 
 

VIII. 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS (Agenda Items Only) 
 

NONE 
 

IX. 
 

1. 
 
 

PRESIDENT’S REPORT 
 
Mayor DiMaria noted that Public Works Week runs from May 21 to May 27, 2023, and said, “We 
all must thank our amazing public works employees for their outstanding devotion and unfaltering  
efforts to ensure our Village continues to run in an orderly manner. Though frequently overlooked, 



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 3

 
IX. 

 
a. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

c. 
 
 

 
d. 

 
 
 

their actions are vital for our daily lives.” 
PRESIDENT’S REPORT (continued) 

 
Mayor DiMaria continued, stating “From preserving the state of our roads and water systems to  
safeguarding us during challenging times, these individuals are the foundation of our society. Our 
sincere appreciation goes out to all public works employees for your exemplary leadership,  
teamwork, and drive. We express our gratitude for all that you do! It is a pleasure to work with  
each and every one of you to make our community safe, efficient, inviting, and the best in the 
nation. Public Works employees identify concerns and correct them before they are even realized 
by our residents, and for that we can’t thank you enough!” 
 
Mayor DiMaria noted some recent examples of Public Works personnel accomplishments include 
the lead role they took in the Electronic Recycling and Document Destruction event on May 13, 
when 565 participants were efficiently handled in three hours. Also, the first Community Clean-Up 
event on May 20, which was a tremendous success. Both events were conducted in conjunction 
with the Village’s Environment & Natural Resources Commission (ENRC). In short, a huge  
Thank You to Public Works staff for all that they do, day in and day out! 
 
Mayor DiMaria also thanked the 565 participants who took advantage of the Electronic Recycling 
and Document Destruction event, as well as the Solid Waste Agency of Northern Cook County, 
ENRC members Christine Corelli, Sarah Tag, and Kim Moldofsy, as well as Public Works staff. 
 
Mayor DiMaria offered special thanks to the 51 participants who made the first Community  
Clean-Up event a success, and especially thanked Village staff members Saba Kaya, Kevin Lochner 
and Public Works staff, Village Trustees Ashur Shiba, John Thill, Connie Travis and Janine Witko, 
and ENRC members Christine Corelli, Sarah Tag, and Kim Moldofsky. 
 

 
X. 

 
 
 

CLERK’S REPORT 
 
Clerk Harford had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

XI. 
 

A. 
 
 

STAFF REPORTS 
 
Village Administrator: 
 
Village Administrator Czerwinski had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
B. 

 

 
Corporation Counsel: 
 
Corporation Counsel Liston had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

  



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 4

XII. 
 

A. 
 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS 
 

Trustee Khan: 
 
Trustee Khan had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
B. 

 
 

 
Trustee Minx: 
 
Trustee Minx had no formal report this evening. 
 
 

 
C. 

 
 

 
Trustee Shiba: 
 
Trustee Shiba encouraged residents to participate in these upcoming Village activities: 
 

 Morton Grove 2023 Tree Walk: Saturday, June 10 at 10:00am, starting at Village Hall 

 2023 Crayon & Marker Recycling Program: Collection points will be at Village Hall 
and the Library from April 1 to June 30, 2023. Remember to dispose of crayons and 
markers appropriately as the school year ends. 

 
 

 
D. 

 
1. 

 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Trustee Thill: 
 
Trustee Thill presented Resolution 23-24, Authorizing a Contract with Schroeder and Schroeder, 
Inc. for the 2023 Concrete Replacement Program.  
 
Concrete curbs, pavements, and sidewalks are repaired through an annual concrete replacement 
program. The work is performed mostly by a contractor hired by the Village. The contract was bid 
through a public process, and Schroeder and Schroeder submitted the only bid of $281,800. The 
bid amount exceeds the budgeted amount of $170,000. Since this is a unit price contract, the 
scope of the work will be scaled back so that the total contract price does not exceed the  
budgeted amount. 
 
Trustee Thill moved to approve Resolution 23-24, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
 
 



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 5

XII. 
 

D. 
 

2. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Thill: (continued) 
 
Next, Trustee Thill presented Resolution 23-25, Authorizing a Contract with LRS Cleansweep 
for Supplemental Street Sweeping. 
 
The Village provides street sweeping services for its residents, mostly done by the Public Works  
staff. The Village has found it necessary and cost-efficient to use outside contractors for street 
sweeping work during the spring and fall seasons. The Village issued a request for bids for these 
services, conforming the competitive purchasing requirements of the Municipal Code. Although 
five (5) contractors requested bidding documents, only one contractor submitted a bid. 
 
LRS Cleansweep of Rosemont, IL has performed this work satisfactorily for the Village in the past 
and is qualified for this project. This Resolution authorizes a contract with LRS Cleansweep in an  
amount not to exceed $50,000. The Village Administrator is authorized to extend this contract for 
additional terms in 2024 and 2025. 
 
Trustee Thill moved, seconded by Trustee Travis, to approve Resolution 23-25. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 

 
E. 

 
1. 

 
 

a. 
 

 
Trustee Travis: 
 
Trustee Travis noted that details regarding these upcoming community events are on the 
Village website: 
 

 Summer Adopt-a-Planter Program: program registration is open and available on the 
Village’s website. Plant pick-up is scheduled for Saturday, June 3, at Village Hall, and there 
a limited number of planters that remain available. 

 The Community Garage Sale will be held on June 9, 10, and 11. Registration 
information is on the Village’s website.  

 The Summer Photo Contest begins on June 1 and goes until September 4 (Labor Day.)  
Photographers are encouraged to submit photos at Village Hall or via the Village website. 

 
 

  



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 6

XII. 
 

F. 
 
 
 

1. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Witko: 
 
Trustee Witko had five (5) ordinances to present this evening: 
 
Ordinance 23-09, Approving a Special Use Permit For a Car Wash at 9120 Waukegan Road, 
Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
She explained that the site is currently developed as a full-service car wash being operated as 
Platinum Car Wash. Everclean Car Wash plans to demolish the norther portion of the 7,600 sq. ft. 
building containing the detailing area. Proposed modifications to the site plan, building elevations, 
signage, and landscaping are intended to improve circulation, reduce bottlenecking, create 
covered outdoor vacuum stalls for customer convenience, and reflect the Everclean Car Wash 
brand. The car wash will operate between the hours of 7:00 a.m. and 7:00 p.m. seven days a week. 
Between two and three employees will work on-site on a daily basis, with no more than four 
employees on the busiest days. The proposed use meets the minimum parking requirement 
established by the Unified Development Code (UDC) and the membership-based business model 
will produce steadier traffic volumes compared with standard service car washes. 
 
Trustee Witko said that, on April 4, the Appearance Commission Chairperson recommended  
approval of the application with conditions, and on April 6, the Traffic Safety Commission also  
recommended approval of the application. On April 24, based on the application, staff report, and 
testimony presented at the public hearing, the Plan Commission voted unanimously (with  
Chairperson Blonz absent) to recommend approval of the Special Use Permit with conditions 
relating to business operation and site improvements. 
 
Trustee Witko moved to adopt Ordinance 23-09, seconded by Trustee Travis. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
Ordinance 23-10, Approving a Text Amendment to Modify Regulations Relating to Non-Profit 
Educational Institutions in Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
Trustee Witko said that Imagine MG LLC had submitted a complete application requesting 
approval of a Text Amendment to the Unified Development Code to allow non-profit educational 
institutions in the R-1 Single Family Residential District. Imagine MG LLC proposes to operate two 
non-profit organizations focused on early childhood and leadership education at 9233 Shermer in 
conjunction with an existing daycare center and house of worship. Imagine MG LLC is concurrently 
requesting a Special Use Permit to operate the mix of uses, and the Village Board’s approval of the 
Special Use Permit request will be contingent upon the approval of the request for a Text 
Amendment. 
 



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 7

XII. 
 

F. 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

3. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 

b. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Witko: (continued) 
 
Trustee Witko noted that, as part of the application, staff recommended defining the use in a  
manner that accommodates education-related uses that operate on a not-for-profit basis but do 
not fit neatly with more traditional educational land use categories currently defined in the UDC 
by Section 12-17.1. The use may involve on-site classes and training, office activities, events, and 
various educational programs. Because the definition is broad, to ensure future educational 
institutions are compatible with surrounding residential uses and to mitigate any negative impacts 
associated with the use, staff is recommending that the use is listed as a Special Use in the 
Village’s residential and commercial zoning districts. 
 
Trustee Witko moved, seconded by Trustee Thill, to adopt Ordinance 23-10. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
Ordinance 23-11, Approving a Special Use Permit for a Daycare Center, Non-Profit Educational 
Institution, and House of Worship at 9233 Shermer Road in Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
Trustee Witko said, as previously mentioned, Imagine MG LLC is seeking approval of a Special Use 
Permit authorizing the operation of an existing daycare center and house of worship and a new 
non-profit educational institution at 9233 Shermer Road. 
 
Imagine MG LLC currently operates Kids Academy Early Learning Center in the northern portion of 
the 14,140 sq. ft. principal structure. The southern portion is operated as a house of worship by 
St. Luke’s United Church of Christ and the Korean Ark Covenant Church. Currently both the house  
of worship and daycare center are operating without a special use permit as legal nonconforming 
uses. The intensity, in particular, of the daycare center has increased incrementally since it began 
in 1994, while the intensity of the house of worship use has decreased quite a bit. In 2022, 
Imagine MG LLC purchased the property from St. Luke’s Church. Because they are proposing to 
add the operation of a non-profit educational institution (a use now classified as a Special Use), 
staff recommended the submittal of a Special Use Permit application to authorize the daycare 
center, house of worship, and the non-profit educational institution use under one Special Use  
Permit.  
 
Trustee Witko moved to adopt Ordinance 23-11, seconded by Trustee Travis. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 8

XII. 
 

F. 
 

4. 
 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. 
 
 

a. 
 
 
 
 
 

b. 
 

TRUSTEES’ REPORTS (continued) 
 
Trustee Witko: (continued) 
 
Ordinance 23-12, Approving a Preliminary and Final Plat of Subdivision and a Planned Unit 
Development Special Use Permit for an Eighty-Nine Unit Townhome Development on 
Property Commonly Known as 8350 Lehigh Avenue in Morton Grove, IL. 
 
Trustee Witko noted the Applicant in this Request, Lexington Homes, LL, is requesting that this 
Ordinance be tabled until the June 13, 2023 Village Board Meeting. 
 
Trustee Witko moved to table Ordinance 23-12 until the June 13, 2023 Village Board Meeting.  
Trustee Minx seconded the motion. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 
Ordinance 23-13, Approving a Special Use Permit for a Restaurant With a Drive-Through 
Facility at 5843 Dempster Street in Morton Grove, Illinois. 
 
Trustee Witko explained that the Jamar Group submitted a complete application requesting a 
Special Use Permit to construct a 1,562 sq. Ft. Restaurant with a drive-though facility at 
5843 Dempster Street, to be operated as a Dunkin’ restaurant. The property will be fully 
redeveloped, with the existing structure occupied by Dunkin’ and Subway to be demolished. 
Jamar Group is the operator of the existing Dunkin’ business located on that property. 
 
Trustee Witko noted that the proposed new site plan complies with all dimensional requirements 
of the UDC. On April 4, the Appearance Commission recommended approval of the application 
with conditions, and on April 6, the Traffic Safety Commission also recommended approval of the 
application. On April 24, based on the application, staff report, and testimony presented at the 
public hearing, the Plan Commission voted unanimously (with Chairperson Blonz absent) to 
recommend approval of the Special Use Permit with conditions relating to site improvements, 
deliveries, noise, and general operations. 
 
Trustee Witko moved, seconded by Trustee Minx, to adopt Ordinance 23-13. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 
Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 

  



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 9

XIII. 
 
 
 

OTHER BUSINESS 
 

NONE 
 

 
XIV. 

 
 
 
 

WARRANTS 
 
Trustee Khan presented the Warrant Register for May 23, 2023 in the amount of $589,396.45.  
She moved to approve the Warrant Register as presented, seconded by Trustee Minx. 
 
Motion passed: 6 ayes, 0 nays. 
 

Tr. Khan           aye                               Tr. Minx           aye                Tr. Shiba            aye                          
Tr. Thill            aye                                Tr. Travis         aye                Tr. Witko           aye 
 
 

XV. 
 
 

RESIDENTS’ COMMENTS 
 

NONE 
 

 
XVI. 

 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business to be brought before the Board, Trustee Minx moved to adjourn 
the meeting, seconded by Trustee Travis. Motion passed unanimously via voice vote. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 7:23 p.m. 
 
 

 
  



Minutes of May 23, 2023 Board Meeting 

 10 

 
 
 
 
 
PASSED this 13th day of June, 2023. 
 
 

Trustee Khan        

Trustee Minx     __________  

Trustee Shiba        

Trustee Thill     __________  

Trustee Travis     __________  

Trustee Witko     __________  
 
 
 
 

APPROVED by me this 13th day of June, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
  
 
Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 
Board of Trustees, Morton Grove, Illinois 
 
 
 
APPROVED and FILED in my office this 14th day of June, 2023. 
 
 
 
 
______________________________________ 
 
Eileen Harford, Village Clerk 
Village of Morton Grove, Cook County, Illinois 

 
 
 
  Minutes by Teresa Cousar 



   

 

Submitted by: Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 

Reviewed by: Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 

Prepared by:   Boyle Wong, Information System Manager  

 

Legislative Summary 
 

Ordinance 23-15 

 

AUTHORIZING THE RENEWAL OF A NON-EXCLUSIVE CABLE TELEVISION 

FRANCHISE AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN COMCAST OF ILLINOIS VI, LLC 

AND THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

Introduced: June 13, 2023 

  

Purpose: This ordinance will authorize the Village to renew its agreement non-

exclusive cable television franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI, 

LLC. 

  

Background: 
On September 1, 1979, Ordinance 79-42 granted Continental Cablevision, 

Inc. which became Media One of Northern Illinois, Inc. a fifteen-year non-

exclusive cable television franchise to operate a cable television system 

within the Village with an option to extend the agreement for an additional 

five years.  Pursuant to Ordinance 98-17, the Village entered into a renewed 

fifteen-year non-exclusive cable television franchise agreement with Media One. 

Pursuant to Ordinance 02-25 this agreement was transferred to its 

successor, Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC. On June 24, 2013, the Village 

entered into a ten-year franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI 

pursuant to Ordinance 13-06. This proposed ordinance renews the Village’s 

nonexclusive franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC to 

provide cable television services within the Village for an additional 10-year 

period.  

 

  

Departments 

Affected 

Administration and Legal Departments 

  

Fiscal Impact: N/A 

  

Source of Funds: N/A 

  

Workload Impact: The IT Department, Village Administrator and Corporation Counsel will continue 

to oversee this franchise agreement. 

  

Administrator 

Recommendation: 

Approval as presented. 

  

Second Reading: June 27, 2023 

  

Special Considerations 

or Requirements: 

None 

 

  

 



ORDINANCE 23-15 
 

AUTHORIZING THE RENEWAL OF A NON-EXCLUSIVE 

CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT 

BY AND BETWEEN COMCAST OF ILLINOIS VI, LLC 

AND THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

 

 WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (VILLAGE), located in Cook County, Illinois is a 

home rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the Constitution of the State of 

Illinois, can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, 

including but not limited to the power to tax and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, the Municipal Code of the Village of Morton Grove, Title 7, Chapter 7 entitled 

“Cable Television Franchise” establishes regulations and guidelines for all cable television activities 

within the corporate limits of the Village; and 

 WHEREAS, on September 1, 1979, pursuant to Ordinance 79-42, the Village granted the   

Media One of Northern Illinois, Inc. formerly Continental Cablevision, Inc., a fifteen (15) year non-

exclusive cable television franchise to operate a cable television system within the Village with an 

option to extend such franchise for an additional five years; and 

 WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 98-17, the Village entered into a 15-year Cable Franchise 

Agreement with Media One, and pursuant to Ordinance 02-25 the agreement was transferred to its 

successor; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Ordinance 13-06, the Village entered into a 10-year non-exclusive 

cable television franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC., the successor of Media One; 

WHEREAS, Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC., has requested a new cable television franchise 

agreement to continue to provide cable television services within the Village; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village has reviewed Comcast of Illinois’s performance under the current 

cable television franchise, identified the future cable related needs and interests of the community; 

considered the financial, legal, and technical qualifications to provide cable television services in the 

community and has determined it is in the public’s best interest to enter into a new non-exclusive cable 

television franchise agreement with Comcast of Illinois VI in accordance with the terms hereinafter set 

forth in the attached Franchise Agreement (Exhibit “A”). 

 NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS 

FOLLOWS: 



 SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS 

clauses into this Ordinance as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove 

set forth. 

SECTION 2:  The Village President is hereby authorized to execute a Franchise Agreement 

between the Village of Morton Grove and Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC., as specifically identified on 

said License Agreement, and under the terms and conditions set forth in the same Franchise Agreement 

attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.  

SECTION 3: The Village Administrator and/or his designee is hereby authorized to take all 

actions which are reasonable or necessary to implement and enforce all provisions of said Franchise 

Agreement. 

 SECTION 6: This ordinance shall be in full force and effect after its passage, approval and 

publication in pamphlet form as provided by law. 

 

Passed this 13th day of June 2023. 

 

Trustee Khan  _________ 

Trustee Minx  _________ 

Trustee Shiba     _________ 

Trustee Thill           _________ 

Trustee Travis        _________ 

Trustee Witko  _________ 

 

Approved by me this 13th day of June 2023. 

 

 

       ________________________________ 

       Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

       Village of Morton Grove 

       Cook County, Illinois 

 

Attested and Filed in my office 

This 14th day of June 2023. 

 

 

 

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 



Comcast-Morton Grove franchise proposal, 11/07/2022   

 

 

 

CABLE TELEVISION FRANCHISE AGREEMENT  

BY AND BETWEEN 

The 

VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE 

And 

COMCAST OF ILLINOIS VI, LLC 

 

This Franchise Agreement (hereinafter, the “Agreement” or “Franchise Agreement”) is 

made between the Village of Morton Grove, Illinois (hereinafter, the “”) and Comcast of Illinois 

VI, LLC (hereinafter, “Grantee”) this _____ day of ___________, 2023 (the “Effective Date”).  

The Village, having determined that the financial, legal, and technical abilities of the 

Grantee are reasonably sufficient to provide the services, facilities, and equipment necessary to 

meet the future cable-related needs of the community, desires to enter into this Franchise 

Agreement with the Grantee for the construction, operation and maintenance of a Cable System 

on the terms and conditions set forth herein.  

This Agreement is entered into by and between the parties under the authority of the 

Cable Act, the Illinois Constitution of 1970, including the Village’s home rule powers, and the 

Illinois Municipal Code, as amended from time to time, and shall be governed by the Cable Act 

and the Illinois Municipal Code, as amended from time to time; provided that any provisions of 

the Illinois Municipal Code that are inconsistent with the Cable Act shall be deemed to be 

preempted and superseded. 

SECTION 1:  Definition of Terms  

For the purpose of this Franchise Agreement, capitalized terms, phrases, words, and 

abbreviations shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Cable Act, unless otherwise 

defined herein.  

"Cable Act" or "Act" means the Cable Communications Policy Act of 1984, as amended 

by the Cable Consumer Protection and Competition Act of 1992 and the Telecommunications 

Act of 1996, 47 U.S.C. §§ 521 et seq., as the same may be amended from time to time. 

“Cable Operator” means any Person or group of Persons who provides Cable Service 

over a Cable System and directly or through one or more affiliates owns a significant interest in 

such Cable System; or who otherwise controls or is responsible for, through any arrangement, 

the management and operation of such a Cable System. 

"Cable Service" or “Service” means the one-way transmission to Subscribers of Video 

Programming or Other Programming Service and Subscriber interaction, if any, which is 

required for the selection or use of such Video Programming or Other Programming Service.  



 2 

“Cable System” or “System,” has the meaning set forth in 47 U.S.C. § 522 of the Cable 

Act, and means Grantee's facilities, consisting of a set of closed transmission paths and 

associated signal generation, reception and control equipment, that is designed to provide Cable 

Service which includes Video Programming and which is provided to multiple Subscribers 

within the Franchise Area, but such term does not include (i) a facility that serves only to re-

transmit the television signals of one or more television broadcast stations;  (ii) a facility that 

serves Subscribers without using any public right-of-way, (iii) a facility of a common carrier 

which is subject, in whole or in part, to the provisions of Title II of the Communications Act of 

1934, as amended, except that such a facility shall be considered a Cable System (other than for 

purposes of section 621(c) of the Cable Act) to the extent such facility is used in the transmission 

of Video Programming directly to Subscribers, unless the extent of such use is solely to provide 

Interactive On-Demand Services; (iv) an open video system that complies with section 653 of the 

Cable Act;  or (v) any facilities of any electric utility used solely for operating its electric utility 

systems.  

  “Channel” or “Cable Channel” means a portion of the electromagnetic frequency 

spectrum which is used in a Cable System and which is capable of delivering a television 

channel as a television channel is defined by the Federal Communications Commission by 

regulation.  

“Customer” or “Subscriber” means a Person who lawfully receives and pays for Cable 

Service with the Grantee’s express permission.  

“FCC” means the Federal Communications Commission or successor governmental 

entity thereto.  

“Franchise” means the initial authorization, or renewal thereof, issued by the Village, 

whether such authorization is designated as a franchise, agreement, permit, license, resolution, 

contract, certificate, ordinance or otherwise, which authorizes the construction or operation of 

the Cable System.  

“Franchise Agreement” or “Agreement” shall mean this Agreement and any amendments 

or modifications hereto.  

“Franchise Area” means the present legal boundaries of the Village as of the Effective 

Date, and shall also include any additions thereto, by annexation or other legal means as 

provided in this Agreement.  

“Grantee” shall mean Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC.  

“Gross Revenue” means the Cable Service revenue received by the Grantee from the 

operation of the Cable System in the Franchise Area to provide Cable Services, calculated in 

accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Cable Service revenue includes 

monthly Basic Cable Service, cable programming service regardless of Service Tier, premium 

and pay-per-view video fees, advertising and home shopping revenue, installation fees and 

equipment rental fees.  Gross revenues shall also include such other revenue sources from Cable 

Service delivered over the Cable System as may now exist or hereafter develop, provided that 

such revenues, fees, receipts, or charges may be lawfully included in the gross revenue base for 



 3 

purposes of computing the Village’s permissible franchise fee under the Cable Act, as amended 

from time to time.  Gross Revenue shall not include refundable deposits, bad debt, investment 

income, programming launch support payments, third party advertising sales commissions and 

agency fees, nor any taxes, fees or assessments imposed or assessed by any governmental 

authority.  Gross Revenues shall include amounts collected from Subscribers for Franchise Fees 

pursuant to City of Dallas, Texas v. F.C.C., 118 F.3d 393 (5th Cir. 1997), and amounts collected 

from non-Subscriber revenues in accordance with the Court of Appeals decision resolving the 

case commonly known as the “Pasadena Decision,” City of Pasadena, California et. al., 

Petitions for Declaratory Ruling on Franchise Fee Pass Through Issues, CSR 5282-R, 

Memorandum Opinion and Order, 16 FCC Rcd. 18192 (2001), and In re: Texas Coalition of 

Cities for Utility Issues v. F.C.C., 324 F.3d 802 (5th Cir. 2003).   

 “Initial Franchise Service Area” means that portion of the Franchise Area served by the 

Grantee’s Cable System as of the Effective Date of this Franchise Agreement.  

“Public, Educational and Governmental (PEG) Access Channel” shall mean a video 

Channel designated for non-commercial use by the Village, the public, and/or educational 

institutions such as public or private schools, but not “home schools,” community colleges, and 

universities. 

“Public, Educational and Government (PEG) Access Programming” shall mean non-

commercial programming produced by any Village residents or organizations, schools and 

government entities and the use of designated facilities, equipment and/or Channels of the Cable 

System in accordance with 47 U.S.C. 531 and this Agreement. 

“Person” means any natural person or any association, firm, partnership, joint venture, 

corporation, or other legally recognized entity, whether for-profit or not-for profit, but shall not 

mean the Village.  

“Public Way” shall mean, pursuant and in addition to the Village’s Right of Way 

Ordinance (Title 7, Chapter 9 of the Municipal Code of Morton Grove), the surface of, and the 

space above and below, any street, alley, other land or waterway, dedicated or commonly used 

for pedestrian or vehicular traffic or other similar purposes, including, but not limited to, public 

utility easements and other easements dedicated for compatible uses, now or hereafter held by 

the Village in the Franchise Area, to the extent that the Village has the right and authority to 

authorize, regulate, or permit the location of facilities other than those of the Village. Public Way 

shall not include any real or personal Village property that is not specifically described in this 

definition and shall not include Village buildings, fixtures, and other structures and 

improvements, regardless of whether they are situated in the Public Way.  

“Standard Installation” means those installations to Subscribers that are located up to one 

hundred twenty-five (125) feet from the existing distribution system (Cable System).  

“Village” means the Village of Morton Grove, Illinois or the lawful successor, transferee, 

designee, or assignee thereof. 

“Video Programming” or “Programming” means programming provided by, or generally 

considered comparable to programming provided by, a television broadcast station. 



 4 

SECTION 2:  Grant of Authority  

2.1.  Pursuant to Section 621(a) of the Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. § 541 (a), 65 ILCS 5/11-

42-11(a) of the Illinois Municipal Code, the Illinois Constitution, and Ordinance 23-15 

approving and authorizing the execution of this agreement, the Village hereby grants to the 

Grantee a nonexclusive Franchise authorizing the Grantee to construct and operate a Cable 

System in the Public Ways within the Franchise Area, and for that purpose to erect, install, 

construct, repair, replace, reconstruct, maintain, or retain in any Public Way such poles, wires, 

cables, conductors, ducts, conduits, vaults, manholes, pedestals, amplifiers, appliances, 

attachments, and other related property or equipment as may be necessary or appurtenant to the 

Cable System, and to provide such services over the Cable System as may be lawfully allowed.  

2.2.  Term of Franchise.  The term of the Franchise granted hereunder shall be ten (10) 

years from the Effective Date, unless the Franchise is renewed or is lawfully terminated in 

accordance with the terms of this Franchise Agreement and/or applicable law.  From and after 

the Effective Date of this Franchise Agreement, the Parties acknowledge that this Franchise 

Agreement is intended to be the sole and exclusive Franchise Agreement between the Parties 

pertaining to the Grantee’s Franchise for the provision of Cable Service.  

2.3. Renewal. Any renewal of this Franchise shall be governed by and comply with 

the provisions of Section 626 of the Cable Act, as amended, and any applicable State law which 

may exist at the time of renewal and which is not superseded by the Cable Act. 

2.4.  Police Powers.  Nothing in this Franchise Agreement shall be construed as an 

abrogation by the Village of any of its police powers to adopt and enforce generally applicable 

ordinances deemed necessary for the health, safety, and welfare of the public, and the Grantee 

shall comply with all generally applicable laws and ordinances enacted by the Village pursuant 

to such police power. 

2.5. Reservation of Authority.  Nothing in this Franchise Agreement shall (A) 

abrogate the right of the Village to perform any public works or public improvements of any 

description, (B) be construed as a waiver of any codes or ordinances of general applicability 

promulgated by the Village, or (C) be construed as a waiver or release of the rights of the Village 

in and to the Public Ways. 

2.6.  Competitive Equity.  

2.6.1.  In the event the Village grants an additional Franchise to use and occupy 

any Public Way for the purposes of operating a Cable System, the additional Franchise shall only 

be granted in accordance with the Illinois Level Playing Field Statute, 65 ILCS 5/11-42-11.  

2.6.2. In the event an application for a new cable television franchise or other 

similar authorization is filed with the Village proposing to serve the Franchise Area, in whole or 

in part, the Village shall to the extent permitted by law promptly notify the Grantee, or require 

the Grantee to be notified, and include a copy of such application.  

 



 5 

SECTION 3:  Construction and Maintenance of the Cable System  

3.1.  Except as may be otherwise provided in this Franchise Agreement, Grantee shall 

comply with all generally applicable provisions of Title 7, Chapter 9, entitled “Construction of 

Utility Facilities in the Public Rights of Way,” of the Municipal Code of Morton Grove as may 

be amended from time to time. 

3.2.  Aerial and Underground Construction. At the time of Cable System construction, 

if all of the transmission and distribution facilities of all of the respective public or municipal 

utilities in any area of the Franchise Area are underground, the Grantee shall place its Cable 

Systems’ transmission and distribution facilities underground, provided that such underground 

locations are actually capable of accommodating the Grantee’s cable and other equipment 

without technical degradation of the Cable System’s signal quality. In any region(s) of the 

Franchise Area where the transmission or distribution facilities of the respective public or 

municipal utilities are both aerial and underground, the Grantee shall have the discretion to 

construct, operate, and maintain all of its transmission and distribution facilities or any part 

thereof, aerially or underground. Nothing in this Section shall be construed to require the Grantee 

to construct, operate, or maintain underground any ground-mounted appurtenances such as 

customer taps, line extenders, system passive devices, amplifiers, power supplies, pedestals, or 

other related equipment.  

3.3. Undergrounding and Beautification Projects.  

3.3.1.   In the event the Village requires users of the Public Way who operate 

aerial facilities to relocate such aerial facilities underground, Grantee shall participate in the 

planning for relocation of its aerial facilities, if any, contemporaneously with such users.  

Grantee shall be reimbursed its relocation costs from public or private funds allocated for the 

project to the same extent as such funds are made available to other users of the Public Way, if 

any, provided that any utility’s exercise of authority granted under its tariff to charge consumers 

for the said utility’s cost of the project that are not reimbursed by the Village shall not be 

considered to be public or private funds.  

3.3.2. The Grantee shall not be required to relocate its facilities unless it has 

been afforded at least sixty (60) days’ notice of the necessity to relocate its facilities.  Upon 

adequate notice the Grantee shall provide a written estimate of the cost associated with the work 

necessary to relocate its facilities.  In instances where a third party is seeking the relocation of 

the Grantee’s facilities or where the Grantee is entitled to reimbursement pursuant to the 

preceding Section, the Grantee shall not be required to perform the relocation work until it has 

received payment for the relocation work. 

SECTION 4:  Service Obligations  

 4.1.   Initial Service Obligations.  As of the Effective Date of this Agreement, Grantee’s 

Cable System has been designed to provide, and is capable of providing, Cable Service to 

residential Customers throughout the Initial Franchise Service Area.  The Grantee shall continue 

to make Cable Service available in the Initial Service Area throughout the term of this 



 6 

Agreement and Grantee shall extend its Cable System and provide service consistent with the 

provisions of this Franchise Agreement. 

 4.2. General Service Obligation. The Grantee shall make Cable Service available 

beyond the Initial Franchise Service Area to every residential dwelling unit within the Franchise 

Area where the minimum density is at least thirty (30) dwelling units per linear Cable System 

network mile as measured from the existing Cable System’s technically feasible connection 

point. Subject to the density requirement, Grantee shall offer Cable Service to all new homes or 

previously unserved homes located within one hundred twenty-five (125) feet of the Grantee’s 

distribution cable (e.g., a Standard Installation). 

4.2.1.   The Grantee may elect to provide Cable Service to areas not meeting the 

above density and distance standards. The Grantee may impose an additional charge in excess of 

its regular installation charge for any service installation requiring a drop or line extension in 

excess of a Standard Installation. Any such additional charge shall be computed on a time plus 

materials basis plus a reasonable rate of return.  

4.3.  Programming.  The Grantee agrees to provide cable programming services in the 

following broad categories: 

 

Children   General Entertainment  Family Oriented 

Ethnic/Minority  Sports     Weather 

Educational    Arts, Culture and Performing Arts News & Information 

   

Pursuant and subject to federal law, all Video Programming decisions, excluding PEG Access 

Programming, are at the sole discretion of the Grantee. 

4.4.  Technical Standards.  The Grantee shall comply with all applicable technical 

standards of the FCC as published in 47 C.F.R., Part 76, Subpart K, as amended from time to 

time.  The Grantee shall cooperate with the Village in conducting inspections related to these 

standards upon reasonable prior written request from the Village based on a significant number 

of Subscriber complaints.   

4.5. Annexations and New/Planned Developments.  In cases of annexation the Village 

shall provide the Grantee written notice of such annexation.  In cases of new construction, 

planned developments or property development where undergrounding or extension of the Cable 

System is required, the Village shall provide or cause the developer or property owner to provide 

notice of the same.  Such notices shall be provided at the time of notice to all utilities or other 

like occupants of the Village’s Public Way.  If advance notice of such annexation, new 

construction, planned development or property development is not provided, the Grantee shall be 

allowed an adequate time to prepare, plan and provide a detailed report as to the timeframe for it 

to construct its facilities and provide the services required under this Franchise Agreement.  

4.6. Service to School Buildings and Governmental Facilities. 

4.6.1.    The Village may request that Grantee provide Cable Service and the 

corresponding equipment to the location(s) specified in Attachment A and shall specify the 



 7 

requested level of services and number of outlets for each location. Upon written notice to 

Grantee, the Village may unilaterally amend Attachment A to add or remove locations provided 

any additional locations are “eligible” under 220 ILCS. 5/22 501(f).  The Village shall notify 

Grantee in writing whether it wishes to be invoiced at standard rates as disclosed by Grantee for 

these services and equipment or to have the charges deducted from the franchise fee payment 

due pursuant to this franchise.  Eligible buildings shall not include buildings leased to non-

governmental third parties or buildings such as storage facilities at which government employees 

are not regularly stationed.  

4.6.2.  Long Drops.  The Grantee may impose an additional charge in excess of 

its regular installation charge for any service installation requiring a drop or line extension in 

excess of a Standard Installation.  Any such additional charge shall be computed on a time plus 

materials basis to be calculated on that portion of the installation that exceeds a Standard 

Installation. 

 4.7. Emergency Alerts.  At all times during the term of this Franchise Agreement, the 

Grantee shall provide and maintain an “Emergency Alert System”  (“EAS”) consistent with 

applicable Federal law and regulation – including 47 C.F.R., Part 11 and the “State of Illinois 

Emergency Alert System State Plan” – as may be amended from time to time.  The Village must 

become qualified and authorized to activate the EAS, through the authorized State EAS plan.  

The Village agrees to indemnify and hold the Grantee harmless from any damages or penalties 

arising out of the negligence of the Village, its employees or agents in using such system. 

4.8.   Customer Service Obligations.  The Village and Grantee acknowledge that the 

customer service standards and customer privacy protections are set forth in the Cable and Video 

Customer Protection Law, 220 ILCS 5/22-501 et seq., and enforcement provisions are included 

in Ordinance 08-01.  Enforcement of such requirements and standards and the penalties for non-

compliance with such standards shall be consistent with the Cable and Video Customer 

Protection Law, 220 ILCS 5/22-501 et seq. 

SECTION 5:  Oversight and Regulation by Village   

5.1.  Franchise Fees.  The Grantee shall pay to the Village a Franchise Fee in an 

amount equal to five percent (5%) of annual Gross Revenues received from the operation of the 

Cable System to provide Cable Service in the Franchise Area; provided, however, that Grantee 

shall not be compelled to pay any higher percentage of fees than any other video service 

provider, under state authorization or otherwise, providing service in the Franchise Area.  The 

payment of Franchise Fees shall be made on a quarterly basis and shall be due forty-five (45) 

days after the close of each calendar quarter.  If mailed, the Franchise Fee shall be considered 

paid on the date it is postmarked.  Each Franchise Fee payment shall be accompanied by a report 

prepared by a representative of the Grantee showing the basis for the computation of the 

franchise fees paid during that period.  Any undisputed Franchise Fee payment which remains 

unpaid in whole or in part, after the date specified herein shall be delinquent.  For any delinquent 

Franchise Fee payments, Grantee shall make such payments including interest at the prime 

lending rate as quoted by JP Morgan Chase & Company or its successor, computed from time 

due until paid.  Any undisputed overpayments made by the Grantee to the Village shall be 



 8 

credited upon discovery of such overpayment until such time when the full value of such credit 

has been applied to the Franchise Fee liability otherwise accruing under this Section. 

 5.1.1.  The Parties acknowledge that, at present, the Cable Act limits the Village 

to collection of a maximum permissible Franchise Fee of five percent (5%) of Gross Revenues.  

In the event that a change in the Cable Act would allow the Village to increase the Franchise Fee 

above five percent (5%), the Village shall hold a public hearing and determine if the Village 

should collect the additional amount.  Following the determination, the Village shall notify the 

Grantee of its intent to collect the increased Franchise Fee and Grantee shall have a reasonable 

time (not to be less than ninety (90) days from receipt of notice from the Village) to effectuate 

any changes necessary to begin the collection of such increased Franchise Fee or notify the 

Grantee of its intent to not collect the increased fee.  In the event that the Village increases said 

Franchise Fee, the Grantee shall notify its Subscribers of the Village’s decision to increase said 

fee prior to the implementation of the collection of said fee from Subscribers as required by law.   

 

5.1.2.   In the event a change in state or federal law requires the Village to reduce 

the franchise fee percentage that may be collected, the parties agree the Grantee shall reduce the 

percentage of franchise fees collected to the lower of: i) the maximum permissible franchise fee 

percentage; or ii) the lowest franchise fee percentage paid by any other Cable Operator granted a 

Cable Franchise by the Village pursuant to the Cable Act, and Section 11-42-11 of the Illinois 

Municipal Code; provided that: (a) such amendment is in compliance with the change in state or 

federal law; (b) the Village approves the amendment by ordinance; and (c) the Village notifies 

Grantee at least ninety (90) days prior to the effective date of such an amendment. 

 5.1.3.    Taxes Not Included.  The Grantee acknowledges and agrees that the term 

“Franchise Fee” does not include any tax, fee, or assessment of general applicability (including 

any such tax, fee, or assessment imposed on both utilities and Cable Operators on their services 

but not including a tax, fee, or assessment which is unduly discriminatory against Cable 

Operators or Cable Subscribers). 

5.2. Franchise Fees Subject to Audit.  The Village and Grantee acknowledge that the 

audit standards are set forth in the Illinois Municipal/Counties Code at 65 ILCS 5/11-42-11.05 

(Municipal Franchise Fee Review; Requests For Information).  Any audit shall be conducted in 

accordance with generally applicable auditing standards. 

5.2.1 In accordance with 65 ILCS 5/11-42-11.05 (k), the Village shall provide on an 

annual basis, a complete list of addresses within the corporate limits of the Village.  If an address 

is not included in the list or if no list is provided, the Grantee shall be held harmless for any 

franchise fee underpayments (including penalty and interest) from situsing errors.  

5.3. Proprietary Information.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in 

this Agreement, the Grantee shall not be required to disclose information which it reasonably 

deems to be proprietary or confidential in nature, with the exception of the information directly 

related to an audit of Franchise Fees as set forth in Section 5.2.  The Village agrees to treat any 

information disclosed by the Grantee as confidential and only to disclose it to those employees, 

representatives, and agents of the Village that have a need to know in order to enforce this 

Franchise Agreement and who agree to maintain the confidentiality of all such information.  For 



 9 

purposes of this Section, the terms “proprietary or confidential” include, but are not limited to, 

information relating to the Cable System design, customer lists, marketing plans, financial 

information unrelated to the calculation of Franchise Fees or rates pursuant to FCC rules, or 

other information that is reasonably determined by the Grantee to be competitively sensitive.  

Grantee may make proprietary or confidential information available for inspection but not 

copying or removal by the Franchise Authority’s representative.  In the event that the Village has 

in its possession and receives a request under the Illinois Freedom of Information Act (5 ILCS 

140/1 et seq.), or similar law for the disclosure of information the Grantee has designated as 

confidential, trade secret or proprietary, the Village shall notify Grantee of such request and 

cooperate with Grantee in opposing such request.  Grantee shall indemnify and defend the 

Village from and against any and all claims arising from the Village’s opposition to disclosure of 

any and all information Grantee designates as proprietary or confidential.  Compliance by the 

Village with an opinion or directive from the Illinois Public Access Counselor or the Illinois 

Attorney General under the Illinois Freedom of Information Act, 5 ILCS 140/1 et seq., or with a 

decision or order of a court with jurisdiction over the Village, shall not be a violation of this 

Section. 

SECTION 6:  Transfer of Cable System or Franchise or Control of Grantee  

6.1.  Neither the Grantee nor any other Person may transfer the Cable System or the 

Franchise without the prior written consent of the Village, which consent shall not be 

unreasonably withheld or delayed.   

6.2.   No transfer of control of the Grantee, defined as an acquisition of fifty-one 

percent (51%) or greater ownership interest in Grantee, shall take place without the prior written 

consent of the Village, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld or delayed.   

6.3.   No consent shall be required, however, for (i) a transfer in trust, by mortgage, 

hypothecation, or by assignment of any rights, title, or interest of the Grantee in the Franchise or 

in the Cable System in order to secure indebtedness, or (ii) a transfer to an entity directly or 

indirectly owned or controlled by Comcast Corporation. 

6.4.   The Grantee, and any proposed transferee under this Section 6, shall submit a 

written application to the Village containing or accompanied by such information as is required 

in accordance with applicable law and FCC regulations, specifically including a completed Form 

394 or its successor, and in compliance with the processes established for transfers under FCC 

rules and regulations, including Section 617 of the Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. §537.  Within thirty (30) 

days after receiving a request for consent, the Village shall, in accordance with FCC rules and 

regulations, notify the Grantee in writing of the additional information, if any, it requires to 

determine the legal, financial and technical qualifications of the transferee or new controlling 

party.  If the Village has not taken final action on the Grantee’s request for consent within one 

hundred twenty (120) days after receiving such request, consent shall be deemed granted.  As a 

condition to granting of any consent, the Village may require the transferee to agree in writing to 

assume the obligations of the Grantee under this Franchise Agreement. 

6.5.  Any transfer of control resulting from or after the appointment of a receiver or 

receivers or trustee or trustees, however denominated, designated to take over and conduct the 



 10 

business of the grantee, whether in a receivership, reorganization, bankruptcy or other action or 

proceeding, unless such receivership or trusteeship shall have been vacated prior to the 

expiration of a one hundred twenty (120) day period, shall be treated as a transfer of control 

pursuant to 47 U.S.C. §537 and require the Village’s consent thereto in the manner described in 

Section 6 above. 

SECTION 7:  Insurance and Indemnity  

 

7.1.  Insurance.  Throughout the term of this Franchise Agreement, the Grantee shall, 

at its own cost and expense, maintain such insurance and provide the Village certificates of 

insurance in accordance with Title 7, Chapter 9 of the Municipal Code of Morton Grove. 

7.2.  Indemnification.  The Grantee shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

Village, its officers, employees, and agents (the “Indemnitees”) from and against any injuries, 

claims, demands, judgments, damages, losses and expenses, including reasonable attorney’s fees 

and costs of suit or defense, arising in the course of the Grantee constructing and operating its 

Cable System within the Village.  The Grantee’s obligation with respect to the Indemnitees shall 

survive for all claims made or actions filed within one (1) year following either the expiration or 

earlier termination or expiration of this Agreement.  The Village shall give the Grantee timely 

written notice of its obligation to indemnify and defend the Village after the Village’s receipt of 

a claim or action pursuant to this Section.  For purposes of this Section, the word “timely” shall 

mean within a time period that does not cause prejudice to the respective positions of the Grantee 

and/or the Village.  If the Village elects in its own discretion to employ additional counsel, the 

costs for such additional counsel for the Village shall be the responsibility of the Village. 

7.2.1. The Grantee shall not indemnify the Village for any liabilities, damages, 

costs or expense resulting from any conduct for which the Village, its officers, employees and 

agents may be liable under the laws of the State of Illinois. 

7.2.2. Nothing herein shall be construed to limit the Grantee’s duty to indemnify 

the Village by reference to the limits of insurance coverage described in this Agreement. 

SECTION 8:  Public, Educational and Governmental (PEG) Access 

8.1. PEG Capacity.  The Grantee shall provide capacity for the Village’s 

noncommercial Public, Educational and Governmental Access (“PEG”) Programming through 

one Channel (the “Channel”) on the Grantee’s Cable System.  Unless otherwise agreed to by the 

Village and the Grantee to the extent required by applicable law, the Channel may be carried on 

the Grantee’s basic digital service tier.  The Village’s PEG Access Programming shall be 

provided consistent with Section 611 of the Cable Act, as amended from time to time.  

8.2.   Rules and Procedures for Use of  the PEG Access Channel.  The Village shall be 

responsible for establishing, and thereafter enforcing, rules for the non-commercial use of the 

PEG Access Channel and to promote the use and viewership of the Channel. 

 8.3. Allocation and Use of the PEG Access Channel.  The Grantee does not relinquish 

its ownership of a Channel by designating it for PEG use.  However, the PEG Access Channel is, 



 11 

and shall be, operated by the Village.  The Village shall adopt rules and procedures under which 

Grantee may use the PEG Access Channel for the provision of Video Programming if the PEG 

Access channel is not being used for its designated purpose(s) pursuant to Section 611(d) of the 

Cable Act, 47 U.S.C. §531. 

 8.4.   Editorial Control.  Grantee shall not exercise any editorial control over any use of 

the PEG Access Channel except as permitted by 47 U.S.C. §531(e). 

8.5. Origination Point.  At such time that the Village determines that it wants to 

establish capacity to allow its residents who subscribe to Grantee’s Cable Service to receive PEG 

Access Programming originated from Schools and/or Village facilities (other than those having a 

signal point of origination at the time of the execution of this Agreement); or at such time that 

the Village determines that it wants to change or upgrade a location from which PEG Access 

Programming is originated; the Village will give the Grantee written notice detailing the point of 

origination and the capability sought by the Village.  The Grantee agrees to submit a cost 

estimate to implement the Village’s plan within a reasonable period of time.  After an agreement 

to reimburse the Grantee for its expenditure within a reasonable period of time, the Grantee will 

implement any necessary system changes within a reasonable period of time. 

8.6. PEG Signal Quality.  Provided the PEG signal feed is delivered by the Village to 

the designated signal input point without material degradation, the PEG Channel delivery system 

from the designated signal input point shall meet the same FCC technical standards as the 

remainder of the Cable System set forth in this Agreement. 

8.7. PEG Capital Support.   At its sole discretion, the Village may designate a PEG 

access capital project to be funded by the Village as set forth herein.  The Village shall send 

written notice of the Village’s desire for Grantee to collect as an external charge a PEG Capital 

Fee of up to thirty-five cents ($0.35) per customer per month charge to be passed on to each 

Subscriber pursuant Section 622(g)(2)(C) of the Cable Act (47 U.S.C. §542(g)(2)(C)).  The 

Grantee shall collect the external charge over a period of twelve (12) months, unless some other 

period is mutually agreed upon in writing, and shall make the PEG capital payments from such 

sums at the same time and in the same manner as Franchise Fee payments.  The notice shall 

include a detailed and itemized description of the intended utilization of the PEG Capital Fee for 

PEG Access Channel facilities and/or equipment and the Grantee shall have the opportunity to 

review and make recommendations upon the Village’s plan prior to agreeing to collect and pay 

to the Village the requested amount. The capital payments shall be expended for capital costs 

associated with PEG access.  Consistent with the description of the intended utilization of the 

PEG Capital Fee, the Village shall be permitted to hold all or a portion of the PEG Capital Fee 

from year to year as a designated fund to permit the Village to make large capital expenditures, if 

necessary, as long as any finds remaining at the end of the term of this Agreement shall be 

credited to PEG Capital obligations in the subsequent Franchise. Moreover, if the Village 

chooses to borrow from itself or a financial institution, revenue for large PEG capital purchases 

or capital expenditures, the Village shall be permitted to make periodic repayments using the 

PEG Capital Fee. Said PEG Capital Fee shall be imposed within one hundred twenty days (120) 

of the Village’s written request.   



 12 

8.7.1.   For any payments owed by Grantee in accordance with this Section 8.7 

which are not made on or before the due dates, Grantee shall make such payments including 

interest at an annual rate of the prime lending rate as quoted by JP Morgan Chase & Company or 

its successor, computed from time due until paid. Any undisputed overpayments made by the 

Grantee to the Village shall be credited upon discovery of such overpayment until such time 

when the full value of such credit has been applied to the Franchise Fee liability otherwise 

accruing under this section. 

8.7.2.  Grantee and Village agree that the capital obligations set forth in this 

Section are not “Franchise Fees” within the meaning of 47 U.S.C. § 542. 

SECTION 9:  Enforcement of Franchise  

9.1.  Notice of Violation or Default.  In the event the Village believes that the Grantee 

has not complied with a material term of the Franchise, it shall notify the Grantee in writing with 

specific details regarding the exact nature of the alleged noncompliance or default.  

9.2.  Grantee’s Right to Cure or Respond.  The Grantee shall have thirty (30) days 

from the receipt of the Village’s written notice: (A) to respond to the Village, contesting the 

assertion of noncompliance or default; or (B) to cure such default; or (C) in the event that, by 

nature of the default, such default cannot be cured within the thirty (30) day period, initiate 

reasonable steps to remedy such default and notify the Village of the steps being taken and the 

projected date that the cure will be completed.  

9.3.  Enforcement.  Subject to applicable federal and state law, and following notice 

and an opportunity to cure and respond pursuant to the provisions of Section 9.2 above, in the 

event the Village determines that the Grantee is in default of any material provision of the 

Franchise, the Village may: 

 9.3.1.   seek specific performance of any provision that reasonably lends itself to 

such remedy or seek other relief available at law, including declaratory or injunctive relief; or 

 9.3.2.   in the case of a substantial or frequent default of a material provision of 

the Franchise, declare the Franchise Agreement to be revoked in accordance with the following: 

(i) The Village shall give written notice to the Grantee of its intent to 

revoke the Franchise on the basis of a pattern of noncompliance by the Grantee.  The notice shall 

set forth with specificity the exact nature of the noncompliance.  The Grantee shall have ninety 

(90) days from the receipt of such notice to object in writing and to state its reasons for such 

objection.  In the event the Village has not received a response from the Grantee or upon receipt 

of the response does not agree with the Grantee’s proposed remedy or in the event that the 

Grantee has not taken action to cure the default, it may then seek termination of the Franchise at 

a public hearing.  The Village shall cause to be served upon the Grantee, at least ten (10) days 

prior to such public hearing, a written notice specifying the time and place of such hearing and 

stating its intent to request termination of the Franchise. 

 

(ii) At the designated hearing, the Village shall give the Grantee an 



 13 

opportunity to state its position on the matter, present evidence and question witnesses, after 

which the Village shall determine whether or not the Franchise shall be terminated.  The public 

hearing shall be on the record.  A copy of the transcript shall be made available to the Grantee at 

its sole expense.  The decision of the Village shall be in writing and shall be delivered to the 

Grantee in a manner authorized by Section 10.2.  The Grantee may appeal such determination to 

any court with jurisdiction within thirty (30) days after receipt of the Village’s decision.  

9.4.  Remedies Not Exclusive.  In addition to the remedies set forth in this Section 9, 

the Grantee acknowledges the Village’s ability pursuant to Section 4.8 of this Franchise 

Agreement to enforce the requirements and standards, and the penalties for non-compliance with 

such standards, consistent with the Illinois Cable and Video Customer Protection Law enacted by 

the Village as Ordinance 08-01; and, pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Franchise Agreement and 

Title 7, Chapter 9  of the Municipal Code of Morton Grove, to enforce the Grantee’s compliance 

with the Village’s requirements regarding “Construction of Utility Facilities in the Public Rights 

Of Way.”  Notwithstanding the foregoing, nothing in this Agreement shall be interpreted to 

permit the Village to exercise such rights and remedies in a manner that permits duplicative 

recovery from, or payments by, the Grantee.  Such remedies may be exercised from time to time 

and as often and in such order as may be deemed expedient by the Village. 

SECTION 10:  Miscellaneous Provisions 

10.1.  Force Majeure.  The Grantee shall not be held in default under, or in 

noncompliance with, the provisions of the Franchise, nor suffer any enforcement or penalty 

relating to noncompliance or default (including termination, cancellation or revocation of the 

Franchise), where such noncompliance or alleged defaults occurred or were caused by strike, 

riot, war, earthquake, flood, tidal wave, unusually severe rain or snow storm, hurricane, tornado 

or other catastrophic act of nature, labor disputes, failure of utility service necessary to operate 

the Cable System, governmental, administrative or judicial order or regulation or other event that 

is reasonably beyond the Grantee’s ability to anticipate or control.  This provision also covers 

work delays caused by waiting for utility providers to service or monitor their own utility poles 

on which the Grantee’s cable or equipment is attached, as well as unavailability of materials or 

qualified labor to perform the work necessary.  Non-compliance or default shall be corrected 

within a reasonable amount of time after force majeure has ceased. 

10.2.  Notice.  Any notification that requires a response or action from a party to this 

franchise within a specific time-frame, or that would trigger a timeline that would affect one or 

both parties’ rights under this franchise, shall be in writing and shall be sufficiently given and 

served upon the other party by hand delivery, first class mail, registered or certified, return 

receipt requested, postage prepaid, or by reputable overnight courier service and addressed as 

follows:  

To the Village:  To the Grantee:  

Village of Morton Grove Comcast  

6101 Capulina Avenue 1500 McConnor Parkway  

Morton Grove, Illinois 60053  Schaumburg, Illinois 60173  

ATTN:  Village Administrator ATTN: Director of Government Affairs  



 14 

Recognizing the widespread usage and acceptance of electronic forms of communication, emails 

and faxes will be acceptable as formal notification related to the conduct of general business 

amongst the parties to this contract, including but not limited to programming and price 

adjustment communications.  Such communication should be addressed and directed to the 

person of record as specified above.  Either party may change its address and addressee for 

notice by notice to the other party under this Section. 

10.3.  Entire Agreement.  This Franchise Agreement embodies the entire understanding 

and agreement of the Village and the Grantee with respect to the subject matter hereof and 

supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements, understandings, negotiations and 

communications, whether written or oral.  Except for ordinances adopted pursuant to Sections 

2.4 and 2.5 of this Agreement, all ordinances or parts of ordinances related to the provision of 

Cable Service that are in conflict with or otherwise impose obligations different from the 

provisions of this Franchise Agreement are superseded by this Franchise Agreement.  

10.3.1.   The Village may adopt a cable television/video service provider 

regulatory ordinance that complies with applicable law, provided the provisions of any such 

ordinance adopted subsequent to the Effective Date of this Franchise Agreement shall not apply 

to the Grantee during the term of this Franchise Agreement.  

10.4.  Severability.  If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or other portion 

of this Franchise Agreement is, for any reason, declared invalid, in whole or in part, by any 

court, agency, commission, legislative body, or other authority of competent jurisdiction, such 

portion shall be deemed a separate, distinct, and independent portion. Such declaration shall not 

affect the validity of the remaining portions hereof, which other portions shall continue in full 

force and effect.  If any material provision of this Agreement is made or found to be 

unenforceable by such a binding and final decision, either party may notify the other in writing 

that the Franchise has been materially altered by the change and  of the election to begin 

negotiations to amend the Franchise in a manner consistent with said proceeding or enactment; 

provided, however, that any such negotiated modification shall  be competitively neutral, and the 

parties shall be given sufficient time to implement any changes necessitated by the agreed-upon 

modification.   

10.5.  Governing Law.  This Franchise Agreement shall be deemed to be executed in the 

State of Illinois, and shall be governed in all respects, including validity, interpretation and 

effect, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the State of Illinois and/or Federal law, as 

applicable. 

10.6. Venue.  Except as to any matter within the jurisdiction of the federal courts or the 

FCC, all judicial actions relating to any interpretation, enforcement, dispute resolution or any 

other aspect of this Agreement shall be brought in the Circuit Court of the State of Illinois, Cook 

County, Illinois.  Any matter brought pursuant to the jurisdiction of the federal court shall be 

brought in the United States District Court of the Northern District of Illinois.  

10.7.  Modification.  Except as provided in Sections 5.1.1 and 5.1.2, no provision of this 

Franchise Agreement shall be amended or otherwise modified, in whole or in part, except by an 

instrument, in writing, duly executed by the Village and the Grantee, which amendment shall be 



 15 

authorized on behalf of the Village through the adoption of an appropriate ordinance or 

resolution by the Village, as required by applicable law.  

10.8.  No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing in this Franchise Agreement is intended to 

confer third-party beneficiary status on any person, individual, corporation or member of the 

public to enforce the terms of this Franchise Agreement. 

10.9.  No Waiver of Rights.  Nothing in this Franchise Agreement shall be construed as 

a waiver of any rights, substantive or procedural, Grantee may have under Federal or state law 

unless such waiver is expressly stated herein. 

10.10. Validity of Franchise Agreement.  The parties acknowledge and agree in good 

faith on the validity of the provisions, terms and conditions of this Franchise Agreement, in their 

entirety, and that the Parties have the power and authority to enter into the provisions, terms, and 

conditions of this Agreement. 

10.11. Authority to Sign Agreement.   Grantee warrants to the Village that it is authorized 

to execute, deliver and perform this Franchise Agreement.  The individual signing this Franchise 

Agreement on behalf of the Grantee warrants to the Village that s/he is authorized to execute this 

Franchise Agreement in the name of the Grantee. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Franchise Agreement has been executed by the duly authorized 

representatives of the parties as set forth below, as of the date set forth below:  

 

For the Village of Morton Grove:     For Comcast of Illinois VI, LLC:  

 

By: __________________________     By: ____________________________  

 

Name: _______________________     Name: __________________________  

 

Title: ________________________     Title: ___________________________  

 

Date: ________________________     Date: ___________________________  



   
 

Submitted by: Ralph E. Czerwinski, Village Administrator 
Reviewed by: Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel  
Reviewed by: Mike Lukich, Director Public Works 
Prepared by: Chris Tomich, Village Engineer 
   

Legislative Summary  
 

Resolution 23-26 
 

AUTHORIZING THE CLOSURE OF DEMPSTER STREET FOR 
THE ANNUAL FOURTH OF JULY PARADE 

Introduced: June 13, 2023 
  
Purpose: This resolution will authorize the closure of Dempster Street for the 2023 July 4th 

Parade. 
  
Background: The July 4 Parade is a Morton Grove tradition. The 2023 parade is scheduled to 

begin at 2:30 pm on Tuesday, July 4, 2023, and will require Dempster Street to be 
partially or completely closed between Central and Lincoln Avenues from 2:00 pm 
to 4:30 pm. The Illinois Department of Transportation requires the Village to adopt 
a resolution to approve this closing and assume full responsibility for the direction, 
protection, and regulation of traffic along with all liabilities for damages of any 
kind occasioned by the closing of this said state route.  

  
Programs, Departments 
 or Groups Affected 

Public Works-Placement of barricades and directional information 
Police Department-Enforcement and traffic control. 

  
Fiscal Impact: Overtime associated with the above activities. 
  
Source of Funds: General Fund dollars will be used to support the workforce and equipment costs. 
  

Workload Impact: All Village Departments will provide their usual support for this activity. 
  
Administrator 
Recommendation: 

Approval as presented. 

  
Second Reading: Not Required 
  
Special Considerations 
or Requirements: 

The Village Engineer will file an application with the Illinois Department of 
Transportation for this street closing. 
 

  
 



   

 

   

 

RESOLUTION 23-26 

 
AUTHORIZING THE CLOSURE OF DEMPSTER STREET FOR 

THE ANNUAL FOURTH OF JULY PARADE 

 

 

 

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is a home 

rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois, 

can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government affairs, including but not 

limited to the power to tax, purchase, and incur debt; and 

 WHEREAS, the Village through its Special Events Commission is planning a parade as part of its 

annual Morton Grove Days celebration on Tuesday, July 4, 2023, which will begin at 2:30 pm; and 

WHEREAS, the parade will require the closing of Dempster Street, either partially or completely 

between Central Avenue and Lincoln Avenue from approximately 2:00 pm to 4:30 pm; and 

 WHEREAS, Dempster Street is a state route under the authority of the Illinois Department of 

Transportation (IDOT); and 

WHEREAS, to close Dempster Street for the Parade, IDOT requires the Village to adopt this 

resolution and assume all responsibility and liability involved in the closing of the state route and 

resulting detour/rerouting of traffic. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS clauses 

into this Resolution as though fully set forth therein thereby making the findings as hereinabove set forth. 

 SECTION 2: The Village Engineer is directed to file an application with the Illinois Department 

of Transportation for the closing of Dempster Street on Tuesday, July 4, 2023, from 2:00 pm to 4:30 pm. 

SECTION 3: The Village will assume full responsibility for the direction, protection, and 

regulation of traffic during the time the detour is in effect and all liabilities for damages of any kind 

caused by the closing of said State Route. All-weather detours will be maintained, conspicuously marked 

and judiciously police patrolled for the benefit of traffic rerouted from the state route. 

  

 

 

 



   

 

   

 

Passed this 13th day of June 2023 

 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba  ______ 

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Witko    

 

Approved by me this 13th day of June 2023 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

 

 

Attested and Filed in my office this 

14th day of June 2023 

 

 

       

Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 



Submitted by - Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator     

Reviewed by - Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel     

Prepared by - Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 

Legislative Summary 

Ordinance 23-12 

APPROVING A PRELIMINARY AND FINAL PLAT OF SUBDIVISION AND A PLANNED UNIT 

DEVELOPMENT SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR AN EIGHTY-NINE-UNIT TOWNHOME 

DEVELOPMENT ON PROPERTY COMMONLY KNOWN AS 8350 LEHIGH AVENUE IN 

MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

Introduction: 

Purpose: 

Background: 

Programs, Dept’s, 

Groups Affected 

Fiscal Impact: 

Source of Funds: 

Workload 

Impact: 

Administrative  

Recommendation: 

Second Reading: 

Special 

Considerations or 

Requirements: 

May 9, 2023 

To approve a Preliminary Plat of Subdivision, Final Plat of Subdivision, and Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) Special Use Permit to authorize the construction of an 89-unit townhome development and a 

subdivision to allow the sale of said townhomes on individual lots.  

Lexington Homes, LLC (“Applicant”), submitted a complete Subdivision and Planned Unit Development 

(PUD) Applications (“Application”) requesting the entitlement of an 89-unit attached single-family 

(townhome) development with accessory parking, accessway, detention, and landscape areas for the 7.6-

acre property commonly known as 8350 Lehigh Avenue (“Subject Property”). The Applicant is requesting 

the approval of plans to construct 89 townhomes within 16 buildings under the control of a PUD, and a 

subdivision to allow for the future sale of the townhomes on individual lots, with common areas to be 

owned and maintained by a proposed homeowner’s association (HOA). The Applicant is under contract to 

purchase the property from Morton Grove Pharmaceuticals/Wockhardt USA. A similar townhome 

development was approved by the Board of Trustees for the Subject Property in 2022.  

The proposed development meets the minimum requirements for density, setback, building height, 

impermeable lot coverage set forth in Section 12-5-7 the Unified Development Code. With 205 proposed 

parking spaces for resident and guest use, the development exceeds the minimum off-street parking 

requirement of 176 spaces set forth in Section 12-7-3:I, with a 10% parking reduction provided by Section 

12-5-7:A.2.b for transit-oriented developments within a quarter mile of the Metra station.

As permitted by Section 12-16-4:A.2, the Traffic Safety Commission Chairperson waived review of the 

application by the full Commission. On April 4, 2023, the Appearance Commission reviewed the 

Application and unanimously voted to issue an Appearance Certificate and recommend approval of the 

proposed development with conditions. On April 24, 2023, the Applicant appeared before the Plan 

Commission to present the request for approval of the Application made under Case PC 23-08. Based on 

the Application, staff report, and testimony presented at the public hearing, the Plan Commission voted 

unanimously (6-0, Chairperson Blonz absent) to recommend approval of the Application, with conditions 

relating to site development and operation.     

Department of Community and Economic Development 

N/A 

N/A 

The Preliminary Plat of Subdivision, Final Plat of Subdivision, and Planned Unit Development Special 

Use Permit will be implemented and supervised by staff as part of their normal work activities. 

Approval request for extention

Applicant requested extension through July 25, 2023 

None 





   
 

Submitted by - Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator       
Reviewed by - Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel                           
Prepared by - Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 

Legislative Summary  
 

Ordinance 23-14 
APPROVING A TEXT AMENDMENT TO ESTABLISH REGULATIONS RELATING TO MOVING 

AND STORAGE FACILITIES IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 
 

Introduction: June 13, 2023 
  
Purpose: To approve a Text Amendment that defines “moving and storage facilities,” authorizes the use in the 

manufacturing districts, and establishes use standards and off-street parking requirements.  
  
Background: MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated (“applicant”), submitted a complete application requesting approval 

of a Text Amendment to the Unified Development Code (Title 12) to allow the use of “moving and storage 
facility” in the M-2 General Manufacturing District. The applicant has been operating a moving and storage 
facility at property commonly known as 8232 Lehigh Avenue in Morton Grove, which is zoned M-2, since 
mid-2022. Because the use is currently prohibited in all Village zoning districts, the applicant has been 
unable to obtain a Business Compliance Certificate authorizing the business’s operation at the property.  
 
Staff recommended that the proposed use be listed as a Permitted Use in the M-2 General Manufacturing 
District and a Special Use in the more restrictive M-O/R and M-1 Districts. As part of the application, staff 
also recommended use regulations designed to ensure that the volume of truck parking accessory to a 
moving and storage facility is appropriately scaled to the activities being conducted within the enclosed 
building and that all trucks are parked in an organized manner that does not interfere with surrounding uses.  
 
Because the application is for a Text Amendment to Title 12 and not in relation to any specific property or 
development, review by the Appearance Commission and Traffic Safety Commission was not required. On 
May 16, 2023, the applicant appeared before the Plan Commission to present the request for approval of 
the application made under Case PC 23-10. Based on the application, staff report, and testimony presented 
at the public hearing, the Plan Commission voted unanimously (7-0) to recommend approval of the Text 
Amendment as presented.  

Programs, Dept’s, 
Groups Affected Department of Community and Economic Development 

  
Fiscal Impact: N/A 
  
Source of Funds: N/A 
  
Workload 
Impact: 

The Text Amendment will be implemented and supervised by staff as part of their normal work activities. 

  
Administrative  
Recommendation: Approval as presented 

  
Second Reading: June 27, 2023 
  
Special 
Considerations or 
Requirements: 

None 

 



1 

 

ORDINANCE 23-14 
 

APPROVING A TEXT AMENDMENT TO ESTABLISH REGULATIONS RELATING TO 

MOVING AND STORAGE FACILITIES IN MORTON GROVE, ILLINOIS 

 

WHEREAS, the Village of Morton Grove (the Village), located in Cook County, Illinois, is 

a home rule unit of government under the provisions of Article 7 of the 1970 Constitution of the 

State of Illinois, can exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government 

affairs, including but not limited to the power to tax and incur debt; and 

WHEREAS, the Morton Grove Unified Development Code defines select commercial and 

industrial uses and classifies them as Permitted or Special Uses in the commercial and 

manufacturing zoning districts, but said uses do not include moving and storage facilities, which are 

therefore prohibited pursuant to Section 12-4-1:E.4; and  

WHEREAS, MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated (“Applicant”), filed a complete Text 

Amendment Application to the Village’s Plan Commission under Case PC 23-10 (“Application”) 

requesting approval of a Text Amendment to allow the use of moving and storage facilities as a 

Permitted Use in the M-2 General Manufacturing District; and  

 WHEREAS, Village staff recommended that the Text Amendment include modifications to 

Sections 12-4-4, 12-5-5, 12-7-3, and 12-17-1 to define the use of “moving and storage facilities,” 

authorize the use as a Permitted Use in the Village’s M-2 District and a Special Use in the Village’s 

M-1 and M-O/R Districts, and establish use standards and off-street parking requirements, which 

were made part of the Application; and  

 WHEREAS, pursuant to the applicable provisions of the Municipal Code, notice of a public 

hearing for case PC 23-10 to be held at a Special Meeting of the Plan Commission on May 16, 

2023, was duly published in the Pioneer Press, a newspaper of general circulation in the Village of 

Morton Grove, on April 20, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, as required by ordinance, the Morton Grove Plan Commission held a public 

hearing relative to the above referenced case on May 16, 2023, and at said public hearing, all 

concerned parties were given the opportunity to be present and express their views for consideration 

by the Plan Commission; and 

 WHEREAS, as a result of said public hearing, the Plan Commission considered all the 

evidence and testimony presented to it, discussed the merits of the Application, and made certain 

recommendations through a report dated June 6, 2023, a copy of which is attached hereto and made 

a part hereof and marked as “Exhibit A”; and  



2 

 

 WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities have considered this matter at a Public Meeting and 

find the Text Amendment, when evaluated in the context of the whole Village, serves the public 

good; and  

 WHEREAS, the Village is desirous of assuring all policies are kept current and relevant. 

  NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 

TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF MORTON GROVE, COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS, AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 SECTION 1:  The Corporate Authorities do hereby incorporate the foregoing WHEREAS 

clauses into this Ordinance, as though fully set forth herein, thereby making the findings as 

hereinabove set forth.  

SECTION 2: Title 12, Chapter 4, Section 4, Subsection E, entitled “Uses,” is hereby 

amended to add the following use, to be inserted in alphabetical order:  

12-4-4: MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS: 

E. Uses:  

 Zoning Districts 

Categories of Use  M-O/R M-1 M-2 

Moving and storage facilities S4 S4 P4 

 

SECTION 3: Title 12, Chapter 5, Section 5, entitled “Criteria for Specific Commercial 

Special Uses,” is hereby amended to be retitled and include a new Subsection F as follows:  

12-5-5: CRITERIA FOR SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL SPECIAL USES USE 

STANDARDS:  

F. Moving and Storage Facilities:  

1. Maximum number of off-street truck parking spaces. The maximum number of truck 

parking spaces for use by semitrailers, wheeled containers, or truck-trailer combinations 

(not including trailer positions immediately adjacent to a loading berth) at a facility 

cannot exceed the greater of either: 

a. One (1) parking space for every two thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet of 

gross floor area under roof for the principal use; or  

b. Two-and-a-half (2½) parking spaces for each loading dock serving the moving and 

storage facility use.  

2. Off-street truck parking facilities. All truck parking must occur in off-street parking 

facilities designed to accommodate the size of the trucks parked. Off-street truck 

parking facilities must delineate parking spaces with paint or other permanent materials, 

which must be maintained in clearly visible condition. 

3. Modifications to standards. The plan commission may recommend modifications to 

these standards by special use provided they meet the special use standards in subsection 



3 

 

12-16-4:C.5 of this title. 

SECTION 4: Title 12, Chapter 7, Section 3, entitled “Off Street Parking,” is hereby 

amended as follows: 

12-7-3: OFF STREET PARKING 

I. Required Spaces by Use: Off street parking spaces accessory to designated uses shall be 

required as identified below: 

Manufacturing uses:  

Freight terminals, with or without 

maintenance facilities/moving and 

storage companies 

1.0 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or 

1.0 space per employee whichever is greater 

Moving and storage facilities 
1.0 space per employee plus 1.0 space for each vehicle 

owned or used in the business 
 

SECTION 5: Title 12, Chapter 17, Section 1, entitled “Terms Defined,” is hereby amended 

to add the following definition, to be inserted in alphabetical order: 

12-17-1: TERMS DEFINED: 

MOVING AND STORAGE FACILITY: A facility used for the moving of household or 

office furniture, appliances, and equipment from one location to another, including the 

temporary storage of those same items. 

SECTION 6: The terms and conditions of this ordinance shall be severable and if any 

section, term, provision, or condition is found to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason by a 

court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining sections, terms, provisions, and conditions shall 

remain in full force and effect.  

SECTION 7: Except as to code amendments set forth in this ordinance, all chapters and 

sections of the Morton Grove Village Code shall remain in full force and effect.  

SECTION 8: This ordinance shall be effective from and after its adoption, approval, and 

publication as provided by law.   

  



4 

 

Passed this 27th day of June 2023. 

 

Trustee Khan    

Trustee Minx    

Trustee Shiba    

Trustee Thill    

Trustee Travis    

Trustee Witko    

 

Approved by me this 27th day of June 2023.   

 

 

____________________________________ 

Daniel DiMaria, Village President 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

 

 

Attested and Filed in my office this 28th day of June 2023. 

 

 

 

__________________________ 

Eileen Scanlon-Harford, Village Clerk 

Village of Morton Grove 

Cook County, Illinois 

  



5 

 

EXHIBIT A 

Plan Commission Report for PC 23-10 

Dated June 6, 2023 



 
 
 

 
 

 

 

Community & Economic Development Department 

 
  

To: Village President and Board of Trustees 
 

From: Steve Blonz, Plan Commission Chairperson  
 Ralph Czerwinski, Village Administrator 
 Teresa Hoffman Liston, Corporation Counsel 
 Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 
 

Date: June 6, 2023 
 

Re: Plan Commission Case PC 23-10 
 Request for approval of a Test Amendment to Sections 12-4-4, 12-5-5, 12-7-3, and 12-17-1 of the 

Morton Grove Unified Development Code (Title 12) to define “moving and storage facility”, authorize 
use in the manufacturing districts, and establish use standards and off-street parking requirements. 
The applicant is MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated. 

 
Executive Summary 
On March 16, 2023, MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated (“applicant”), submitted a complete Text Amendment Application 
requesting approval of amendments to the Unified Development Code to allow the use of “moving and storage facility” in the 
M-2 Manufacturing District. The applicant has been operating a moving and storage facility at property commonly known as 
8232 Lehigh Avenue in Morton Grove, which is zoned M-2, since mid-2022. Due to the nonconforming land use, the applicant 
has been unable to obtain a Business Compliance Certificate authorizing the business’s operation at the property.  
 
The Text Amendment Application was considered by the Plan Commission at a Special Meeting on May 16, 2023. For the 
reasons set forth in this report, on May 16, 2023, the Plan Commission unanimously recommended by a vote of 7-0 that the 
Village Board of Trustees should approve the Text Amendment as presented.  
 
Application 
The applicant submitted a Text Amendment Application requesting the legalization of “moving and storage facilities” in the M-2 
District so that they may legally operate an existing moving and storage facility at 8232 Lehigh Avenue. A moving and storage 
facility does not fit with any land use currently defined by Section 12-17-1 or listed in Section 12-4-4:E, which establishes use 
permissions for the manufacturing districts. The use is therefore prohibited Village-wide.  
 
Staff recommended all language associated with the proposed amendments, including the definition, use standards, and off-
street parking requirement, which was made part of the submitted application. Proposed use regulations were designed to 
ensure that the volume of truck parking occurring at a moving and storage facility is appropriately scaled to the activities being 
conducted within the enclosed building and that truck parking is occurring in an organized manner that does not interfere with 
the operation of surrounding uses. The application’s proposed amendments are provided below.  
 

12-4-4: MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS 
E. Uses 

Categories Of Use 
Zoning District 

M-O/R M-1 M-2 

Moving and storage facilities S4 S4 P4 
4 See chapter 5, "Special Zoning Provisions", of this title. 

 

12-5-5: CRITERIA FOR SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL SPECIAL USES USE STANDARDS 
 F. Moving and Storage Facilities:  

1. Maximum number of off-street truck parking spaces. The maximum number of truck parking spaces for use by 
semitrailers, wheeled containers, or truck-trailer combinations (not including trailer positions immediately 
adjacent to a loading berth) at a facility cannot exceed the greater of either: 
a. One (1) parking space for every two thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet of gross floor area under 



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
June 6, 2023  

 

 
2 

roof for the principal use; or  
b. Two-and-a-half (2½) parking spaces for each loading dock serving the moving and storage facility use.  

2. Off-street truck parking facilities. All truck parking must occur in off-street parking facilities designed to 
accommodate the size of the trucks parked. Off-street truck parking facilities must delineate parking spaces with 
paint or other permanent materials, which must be maintained in clearly visible condition. 

3. Modifications to standards. The plan commission may recommend modifications to these standards by special 
use provided they meet the special use standards in subsection 12-16-4:C.5 of this title. 

 
12-7-3: OFF STREET PARKING 
I. Required Spaces by Use: Off street parking spaces accessory to designated uses shall be required as identified 
below: 

Manufacturing uses:  

Freight terminals, with or without maintenance 
facilities/moving and storage companies 

1.0 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or 1.0 space 
per employee whichever is greater 

Moving and storage facilities 1.0 space per employee plus 1.0 space for each vehicle owned or 
used in the business 

 

12-17-1: TERMS DEFINED 
MOVING AND STORAGE FACILITY: A facility used for the moving of household or office furniture, appliances, and 
equipment from one location to another, including the temporary storage of those same items.  

Departmental Review  
• Building Department: No comments at this time.  

• Fire Department: No comments at this time. 

• Public Works Department/Engineering: No comments at this time. 
 

Public Hearings 
Appearance & Traffic Safety Commission 
Because the application is for an amendment to the Unified Development Code and not in relation to any specific property or 
project, review by the Appearance and Traffic Safety Commissions was not required.  
 
Plan Commission 
The Village of Morton Grove provided public notice for the May 16, 2023, Plan Commission public hearing for Case PC 23-10 
in accordance with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on April 20, 2023. 
Letters to surrounding property owners and a public notice sign were not required due to the application being for a Text 
Amendment to the Unified Development Code (Title 12) and not in relation to any particular property.   
 
Plan Commission – May 16, 2023, Proceedings: Seven members of the Plan Commission were in attendance at the public 
hearing for Case PC 23-10 held on May 16, 2023.  
 
Anne Kirchner, Assistant Land Use Planner, provided a brief introduction to the application. The staff report dated May 9, 
2023, and attached hereto as “Attachment A,” was entered into the public record.  
 
Ms. Kirchner stated that in the case of PC 23-10, the applicant is requesting a Text Amendment to allow the use of “moving 
and storage facilities” in the M-2 General Manufacturing District. Because the land use is not listed as a Permitted or Special 
Use in any zoning district and the use does not fit any existing land use definition, the use is currently prohibited Village-wide. 
She explained that the applicant currently operates a moving and storage facility at 8232 Lehigh Avenue and has been unable 
to obtain a Business Compliance Certificate due to the nonconforming land use.  



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
June 6, 2023  

 

 
3 

 
Ms. Kirchner explained that due to concerns with excessive truck parking associated with the use as observed in other 
communities, staff recommends that if the use is allowed in the Village, whether as a Permitted or Special Use, certain use 
standards should be adopted to ensure on-site truck parking is scaled to the size of activities under roof. The proposed 
calculations for maximum off-street truck parking were taken from Franklin Park, a community with a large industrial base and 
a code that has been designed specifically to control truck parking for a variety of industrial uses.  
 
Attorney Ronald Cope, representative of the applicant, introduced himself and the applicant. He described the current 
operations of the moving and storage company. He explained that they use box trucks and operate similarly to other permitted 
uses in the manufacturing district, such as warehouses and distribution facilities. They have complied with all Fire and Building 
Department concerns. They are amenable to all recommendations provided in the staff report.  
 
Commissioner Liston asked if clients would be dropping off and picking up items from storage. Mr. Cope said the business’s 
movers provide all transfers of belongings. No customers will be on-site.  
 
Vice Chairman Kintner asked what percentage of the business is moving with on-site storage versus moving without on-site 
storage. Mr. Cope said he does not know the percentage, but the storage facility is approximately 10,000 square feet in area.  
 
Vice Chairman Kintner asked if the parking requirement is intended for cars, trucks, or both. Ms. Heidorn said the intent is one 
space per employee, which would typically be a passenger vehicle, and one space for each vehicle owned or used by the 
business, which would typically be a truck or similar commercial vehicle.  
 
Chairman Blonz asked where the trucks are parked currently and how many are used. Mr. Cope said there is a maximum of 
four trucks per the applicant’s lease and there are spaces on-site marked for truck parking. Mr. English noted there are usually 
three to four trucks parked on-site in a location designated by the building’s management. 
 
Chairman Blonz asked for comments from the audience. 
 
Krystina Huertas, Senior Property Manager of 8232 Lehigh Avenue, said she has no objections to the text amendment. The 
lease states that four trucks may be parked on-site for this business. 
 
Vice Chairman Kintner made a motion to recommend approval of Case PC 23-10, a Text Amendment defining “moving and 
storage facility”, authorizing the use in the manufacturing districts, and establishing use standards and off-street parking 
requirements, as presented in the staff report dated May 9, 2023. 
 
The motion was seconded by Commissioner Gabriel. 
 
Motion passes 7-0.  
 
Final Proposed Text Amendment 
The final text amendment recommended for approval by the Plan Commission is attached hereto as “Attachment B”: 
 
Attachments 

• Attachment A – Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 23-10, prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community 
Development Administrator, dated May 9, 2023 

• Attachment B – Final Text Amendment proposed for PC 23-10 
  



Attachment A 
Staff Report to the Plan Commission for PC 23-10 

Prepared by Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator 
Dated May 9, 2023 



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
May 9, 2023 

1 

Village of Morton Grove 
Department of Community & Economic Development 

To: Chairperson Blonz and Members of the Plan Commission 

From: Zoe Heidorn, Community Development Administrator; Anne Ryder Kirchner, 
Assistant Land  Use Planner 

Date: May 9, 2023 

Re: Case PC 23-10: Request for approval of a Test Amendment to Sections 12-4-4, 12-5-5, 12-7-3, 
and 12-17-1 of the Morton Grove Unified Development Code (Title 12) to define “moving and 
storage facility”, authorize use in the manufacturing districts, and establish use standards 
and off-street parking requirements. The applicant is MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated. 

STAFF REPORT 
Public Notice 
The Village of Morton Grove provided public notice for the May 16, 2023, Plan Commission public hearing for Case PC 23-
10 in accordance with the Unified Development Code. The Morton Grove Champion published a public notice on April 20, 
2023. Letters to surrounding property owners and a public notice sign were not required due to the application being for a 
Text Amendment to the Unified Development Code (Title 12) and not in relation to any particular property.  

Application  
On March 16, 2023, MSN Logistics Group, Incorporated (“applicant”), submitted a complete application requesting approval 
of a Text Amendment to the Unified Development Code to allow the use of “moving and storage facility” in the M-2 
Manufacturing District. The applicant has been operating a moving and storage facility at property commonly known as 
8232 Lehigh Avenue, which is zoned M-2, since mid-2022. The applicant has been unable to obtain a Morton Grove 
Business Compliance Certificate authorizing its operation at the property due to the nonconforming land use.  

Per Section 12-4-1:E.4, “Uses not specified in the list for each district classification are not allowed.” Section 12-4-4:E 
establishes a use matrix that allows certain land uses in the M-2 District as Permitted or Special Uses. The following uses 
are the only uses related to “moving and storage facilities” allowed by Permitted or Special Use in the Village’s M-2 District 
use matrix, as defined by Section 12-17-1: 

DISTRIBUTION CENTER: A facility for the temporary storage of products that will remain for a short period prior to 
be redistributed to retailers, wholesalers, or directly to consumers, particularly on an on-demand basis. As with such 
turnover, activity in a distribution center in receiving and shipping parcels is more constant and consistent than a 
general warehouses.  

SELF-STORAGE FACILITY: A facility containing small separate storage areas of varying size leased or rented on an 
individual basis. Manager's quarter's (see definition of Manager's Quarters, Self-Storage Facility) may or may not be 
included.  

WAREHOUSE: A structure or room used for storage of merchandise or commodities and where no such goods are 
sold at either wholesale or retail. This use does not include the storage of goods incidental to a different primary use 
on the same lot in which the warehouse would be considered an accessory use.  

WAREHOUSE, PUBLIC: A warehouse where the merchandise and/or commodities stored is occupied by several 
different commercial, industrial or wholesale users.  

A moving and storage facility, as proposed by the applicant, provides the transport and temporary storage of personal 



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
May 9, 2023 

2 

belongings, not merchandise, which the Merriam-Webster dictionary defines as “commodities or goods that are bought and 
sold in business.” The personal belongings are not redistributed to retailers, wholesalers, or directly to consumers. Moving 
and storage facilities do not contain separate storage areas that are rented on an individual basis. A moving and storage 
facility does not fit with any land use currently defined by Section 12-17-1 or listed in Section 12-4-4:E and is therefore 
prohibited in the Village. As such, the applicant is requesting a Text Amendment to define the land use and establish use 
permissions so that it may be authorized within the Village limits.   

Staff notes that “Freight terminals, with or without maintenance facilities/moving and storage companies” is listed in the 
“Required Spaces by Use” table provided in Section 12-7-3:I. Staff maintains that this mention of the land use in the Unified 
Development Code does not constitute its allowance as a Permitted or Special Use in any zoning district.     

The activities occurring at a moving and storage facility typically include offices, the temporary storage of household and 
office belongings in warehouse space, the parking of trucks operated by the business, and the parking of employee 
vehicles. The images below depict exterior operations of three moving and storage facilities in the Chicago area:  

Reebie Storage & Moving Co., Franklin Park, Illinois 

Two Men and a Truck, Des Plaines, Illinois 

Good Move Movers, Inc., Elmhurst, Illinois 

Based on the applicant’s proposed use and the operation of similar businesses, staff proposes the following definition for 



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
May 9, 2023 

3 

“moving and storage facility,” which would be added in alphabetic order to Section 12-17-1, “Terms Defined.” 

12-17-1: TERMS DEFINED

MOVING AND STORAGE FACILITY: A facility used for the moving of household or office furniture, appliances, and 
equipment from one location to another, including the temporary storage of those same items.  

Staff identified communities that allow or address the use of moving and storage facilities, or similar uses, and reviewed the 
regulations of surrounding communities. A summary is provided in the table below. Staff found that many zoning codes do not 
explicitly identify the use. This may mean that the use is prohibited or that the use is classified under another land use.   

Community Identified 
Land Use District Allowances Land Use Definition 

Antioch Moving and 
Storage 

Permitted Use: M-1 
Light Manufacturing, 
M-2 Manufacturing

An area and/or building used for the storage of household furniture and 
effects, or office furnishings. Also, an enterprise engaged in the transfer of 

household or office furnishings and effects. 

Beecher 
Moving and 

Storage 
Building 

Prohibited unless 
by Board 

recommendation 

A building in which household goods and similar 
materials brought by motor truck are received and stored for future recall. 

Stored freight and household goods shall not be interpreted as operating a 
warehouse 

Benton 
Moving and 

Storage 
Operations 

Special Use: B-2 
Secondary Business 

District 
Not defined 

Chicago 
Warehousing, 
Wholesaling 
and Freight 
Movement 

Permitted Use: M-1 
Limited 

Manufacturing M-2 
Light Industry, M-3 

Heavy Industry 

Storage, wholesale sales and distribution of materials and equipment. 
Typical uses include storage warehouses, moving and storage firms, 

fulfillment centers, trucking or cartage operations, truck staging or storage 
areas, wholesale sales of materials and equipment to parties other than the 

general public and the following specific use types. . . 

Evanston Not identified, closest identified uses include “commercial storage facility,” “industrial service establishment,” “warehouse 
establishment”  

Franklin 
Park 

Storage 
Facility 

Special Use: 
C-3 General

Commercial & C-5 
Commercial 

Manufacturing 
Districts 

A facility for the long-term storage of property where either individual renters 
or a business control and access storage spaces located within a fully 

enclosed building that is climate controlled. It is expected that any individual 
storage space may not accessed more than once per day. No other 

operations may occur on the premises. 

Geneva 
Moving and 

Storage 
Facilities 

Permitted Use: I-1 
Light Industrial, I-2 
General Industrial 

Not defined 

Glenview Not identified, closest identified uses include “self-storage miniwarehouse facilities,” “warehouse and storage facilities” 

Itasca 
Moving and 

Storage 
Building 

Prohibited unless 
by Board 

recommendation 

A building in which household goods and similar materials brought 
by motor truck are received and stored for future recall. Stored 

freight and household goods shall not be interpreted as operating a 
warehouse. 

Maywood 
Transfer, 

Moving and 
Storage 

Permitted Use: C-M 
General 

Commercial/ 
Manufacturing, M 

Manufacturing 

Not defined 

Niles Not identified, closest identified uses include “heavy commercial – rental and service,” “self-storage facility,” “warehouse”   

Plainfield Moving and 
Storage 

Permitted Use: I-1 
Office, Research, 

and Light Industrial; 
Special Use: I-2 
General Industrial 

An area and/or building used for the storage of household furniture and 
effects, or office furnishings. Also an enterprise engaged in the transfer of 

household or office furnishings and effects. 

Skokie Not identified, closest identified uses include “conventional warehouse,” “self-storage facility,” “truck and freight 
transportation services”  



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
May 9, 2023 

4 

Staff found that codes typically support traditional storage and warehousing uses in the industrial districts, where the items 
being stored are products and materials intended for distribution to retailers, not the storage of personal belongings. Where 
turnover of products is frequent, the use is typically referred to as a distribution facility, which is supported trucks making 
deliveries to and from the facility. In the case of traditional storage, warehousing, and distribution facilities, each truck 
movement means goods are either arriving to the facility or being taken from the facility. Therefore, the volume of truck 
movements is naturally scaled to the square footage of the facility or the quantity of loading docks. Any truck parking 
occurring on a property authorized for one of these uses but not in relation to the movement of goods to and from the facility 
would be considered non-accessory truck parking, a prohibited use Village-wide.  

Moving and storage facilities differ from traditional storage, warehousing, and distribution facilities in that the service they 
provide may not be scaled to the availability of docks or square footage for storage of personal belongings. Moving trucks 
may only provide the service of transporting personal belongings and may not bring any of the personal belongings to the 
facility. A facility could theoretically provide little to no on-site storage, operating similarly to a truck parking area or yard, 
which is defined by Section 12-17-1 as follows:  

TRUCK PARKING AREA OR YARD: Any land used or intended to be used for the storage or parking of trucks, 
tractors, truck trailers and including commercial vehicles, while not loading or unloading, and which exceed one and 
one-half (11/2) tons in capacity. 

The use of truck parking as a principal use is prohibited in Morton Grove and most surrounding communities because it 
generates excessive truck traffic, damages public infrastructure, produces insignificant property tax and no sales tax, and 
creates few permanent jobs. 

If a Text Amendment allowing the use of “moving and storage facility” is to be approved, staff recommends adding the 
following use regulations as an amendment to Section 12-5-5, “Criteria for Specific Commercial Special Uses,” to ensure 
that the volume of truck parking occurring at a moving and storage facility is appropriately scaled to the activities being 
conducted within the enclosed building. Staff also recommends renaming Section 12-5-5 to “Use Standards” so that it may 
serve as a home for all use standards. Providing specific use standards supports more administrative approval of uses as 
Permitted Uses because negative impacts associated with specific uses have been appropriately controlled by code rather 
than a lengthy Special Use approval process. Centralizing use standards improves code readability.  

12-5-5: CRITERIA FOR SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL SPECIAL USES USE STANDARDS

F. Moving and Storage Facilities:

1. Maximum number of off-street truck parking spaces. The maximum number of truck parking spaces for use by
semitrailers, wheeled containers, or truck-trailer combinations (not including trailer positions immediately
adjacent to a loading berth) at a facility cannot exceed the greater of either:
a. One (1) parking space for every two thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet of gross floor area under

roof for the principal use; or
b. Two-and-a-half (2½) parking spaces for each loading dock serving the moving and storage facility use.

2. Off-street truck parking facilities. All truck parking must occur in off-street parking facilities designed to
accommodate the size of the trucks parked. Off-street truck parking facilities must delineate parking spaces with
paint or other permanent materials, which must be maintained in clearly visible condition.

3. Modifications to standards. The plan commission may recommend modifications to these standards by special
use provided they meet the special use standards in subsection 12-16-4:C.5 of this title.

With the above truck parking restrictions in place, staff can support the use being classified as a Permitted Use in the M-2 
District. Due to the more restricted nature of the M-1 and M/O-R Districts, staff recommends that the use is listed as Special 
Use in those districts. The proposed amendments to Section 12-4-4:E are provided below.  



PC 23-10 – Text Amendment 
May 9, 2023 

5 

12-4-4: MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS

E. Uses

Categories Of Use 
Zoning District 

M-O/R M-1 M-2

Moving and storage facilities S4 S4 P4 
4 See chapter 5, "Special Zoning Provisions", of this title. 

Section 12-7-3:I currently establishes an off-street parking requirement of “1.0 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor 
area or 1.0 space per employee, whichever is greater” for “freight terminals, with or without maintenance facilities/moving 
and storage companies.” To ensure adequate off-street truck and employee parking is provided for future moving and 
storage facilities, recommends modifying the parking requirement to read as follows: 

12-7-3: OFF STREET PARKING

I. Required Spaces by Use: Off street parking spaces accessory to designated uses shall be required as identified
below:

Manufacturing uses: 

Freight terminals, with or without maintenance 
facilities/moving and storage companies 

1.0 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or 1.0 space 
per employee whichever is greater 

Moving and storage facilities 1.0 space per employee plus 1.0 space for each vehicle owned or 
used in the business 

Staff notes that a positive recommendation of the proposed Text Amendment and subsequent approval by the Board does not 
equate to an approval of occupancy of 8232 Lehigh Avenue by the applicant. The applicant must meet all applicable building 
and zoning code requirements, including off-street parking requirements, before a Business Compliance Certificate is issued.  

Recommendation 
Should the Plan Commission recommend approval of this application, staff suggests the following motion: 

Motion to recommend the approval of Case PC 23-10, a Text Amendment defining “moving and storage facility”, authorizing the 
use in the manufacturing districts, and establishing use standards and off-street parking requirements, as presented in the staff 
report dated May 9, 2023 [or as modified by the Plan Commission].  



Attachment B 
Final Text Amendment Proposed for PC 23-10 

12-4-4: MANUFACTURING DISTRICTS
E. Uses

Categories Of Use 
Zoning District 

M-O/R M-1 M-2

Moving and storage facilities S4 S4 P4 
4 See chapter 5, "Special Zoning Provisions", of this title. 

12-5-5: CRITERIA FOR SPECIFIC COMMERCIAL SPECIAL USES USE STANDARDS
F. Moving and Storage Facilities:
1. Maximum number of off-street truck parking spaces. The maximum number of truck parking spaces for use by

semitrailers, wheeled containers, or truck-trailer combinations (not including trailer positions immediately
adjacent to a loading berth) at a facility cannot exceed the greater of either:
a. One (1) parking space for every two thousand five hundred (2,500) square feet of gross floor area under

roof for the principal use; or
b. Two-and-a-half (2½) parking spaces for each loading dock serving the moving and storage facility use.

2. Off-street truck parking facilities. All truck parking must occur in off-street parking facilities designed to
accommodate the size of the trucks parked. Off-street truck parking facilities must delineate parking spaces with
paint or other permanent materials, which must be maintained in clearly visible condition.

3. Modifications to standards. The plan commission may recommend modifications to these standards by special
use provided they meet the special use standards in subsection 12-16-4:C.5 of this title.

12-7-3: OFF STREET PARKING
I. Required Spaces by Use: Off street parking spaces accessory to designated uses shall be required as identified
below:

Manufacturing uses: 

Freight terminals, with or without maintenance 
facilities/moving and storage companies 

1.0 space per 1,000 square feet of gross floor area or 1.0 space 
per employee whichever is greater 

Moving and storage facilities 1.0 space per employee plus 1.0 space for each vehicle owned or 
used in the business 

12-17-1: TERMS DEFINED
MOVING AND STORAGE FACILITY: A facility used for the moving of household or office furniture, appliances, and 
equipment from one location to another, including the temporary storage of those same items.  


	1 Agenda June 13, 2023
	2 Minutes_10_May 23-2023
	MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF THE PRESIDENT
	Daniel P. DiMaria, Village President

	12c1a LS Ord  23-15
	12c1b Ord 23-15 cable franchise ord
	12c1c Exhibit A - Morton Grove franchise proposal, 11-07-2022
	SECTION 1:  Definition of Terms
	SECTION 2:  Grant of Authority
	SECTION 6:  Transfer of Cable System or Franchise or Control of Grantee



	12d1a LS Res 23-26 July 4 Parade
	12d1b Res 23-26 - July 4 Parade
	Eileen Scanlon Harford, Village Clerk

	12f2a ORD 23-14 PC 23-10 TEXT AMENDMENT - LS
	12f2b ORD 23-14 PC 23-10 TEXT AMENDMENT
	12f2c ORD 23-14 EXHIBIT A
	Departmental Review
	PC 23-10 STAFF REPORT.pdf
	Public Notice
	Application
	Staff notes that a positive recommendation of the proposed Text Amendment and subsequent approval by the Board does not equate to an approval of occupancy of 8232 Lehigh Avenue by the applicant. The applicant must meet all applicable building and zoni...
	Recommendation


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	12f2c ORD 23-14 EXHIBIT A.pdf
	Departmental Review
	PC 23-10 STAFF REPORT.pdf
	Public Notice
	Application
	Staff notes that a positive recommendation of the proposed Text Amendment and subsequent approval by the Board does not equate to an approval of occupancy of 8232 Lehigh Avenue by the applicant. The applicant must meet all applicable building and zoni...
	Recommendation





